

Aalborg Universitet

Allogeneic red blood cell transfusion in coronary artery bypass surgery

Andreasen, Jan Jesper

Publication date: 2010

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication from Aalborg University

Citation for published version (APA):

Andreasen, J. J. (2010). Allogeneic red blood cell transfusion in coronary artery bypass surgery. Center for Sensory-Motor Interaction (SMI), Department of Health Science and Technology, Aalborg University.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- ? Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
 ? You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 ? You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at vbn@aub.aau.dk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

ALLOGENEIC RED BLOOD CELL TRANSFUSION IN CORONARY ARTERY BYPASS SURGERY

Jan Jesper Andreasen

Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery,

Center for Cardiovascular Research, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital

&

Center for Sensory-Motor Interactions (SMI),

Department of Health Science and Technology, Aalborg University,

Denmark

Aalborg University

2010

ISBN: 978-87-7094-053-5

Contents

Preface and acknowledgements	3
Supervisors	4
Published papers and manuscripts	5
Abbreviations	6
Introduction	7
Background	8
History of blood transfusion	8
Transfusion variability in CABG	9
Predictors of allogeneic red blood cell transfusion in CABG	10
Potential benefits of allogeneic blood transfusion in CABG	13
Adverse outcome following allogeneic red blood cell transfusion in CABG	15
Blood conservation in cardiac surgery with special reference to antifibrinolytic drugs	19
Aims and hypotheses	20
Methodology, materials and methods	21
Methodology	21
Ethical and legal issues	23
Materials and methods	24
Study populations	24
Study designs	25
Statistical methods	27
Summary of results	28
General discussion in relation to existing literature	35
Antifibrinolytic prophylaxis for patients undergoing CABG	36
Transfusion variability in CABG	37
Predictors of allogeneic red blood cell transfusion	38
Severe infectious outcome following allogeneic RBC transfusion	39
Clinical implications of the studies	40
Strengths and limitations of studies (I–IV)	43
Conclusions	46
Future directions	48
Summary in English	51
Summary in Danish/Dansk resumé	53
References	55

Preface and acknowledgements

This PhD thesis is based on clinical and epidemiological studies carried out between 2004 and 2009 during my employment at the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my immense gratitude to all those persons who provided me with invaluable support and assistance. In particular, I am profoundly indebted to my supervisors Søren Paaske Johnsen, Asbjørn Mohr Drewes, and Hans Gregersen whose help was crucial to my success in completing this thesis.

I am deeply grateful to statistician Claus Dethlefsen, Center for Cardiovascular Research, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital and statistician Anders Riis, Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital, for their invaluable help with biostatistics and their fantastic data management.

I greatly appreciated the help from my colleagues in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery who accepted my absence when I was away attending courses or writing. I am also pleased to acknowledge the support of Uffe Niebuhr, who was Head of the Department at the time when this work was begun. Special gratitude is also extended to all my co-authors for their helpful discussions and contributions to the individual studies included in this thesis.

I would like to offer my sincerest thanks to all the staff members in the Medical Library, Aalborg Hospital, for providing me with the papers I asked for - especially the very old ones dating back to the years 1666 and 1667. Appreciation also goes to my colleagues in the Department of Cardiovascular Anaesthesia and all the perfusionists in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery for making the clinical study practicable.

This work was financially supported by external grants from Det Obelske Familiefond, Nordjyllands Amts Forskningsudvalg, and Aalborg Hospital Science and Innovation Center. Finally, I owe a debt of gratitude to my wife Vibeke, our sons Martin and Morten, and the rest of my family for their patience during the many hours I missed being in their company.

3

Supervisors:

Professor Asbjørn Mohr Drewes, MD, PhD, DMSci. Mech-Sense, Department of Gastroenterology, Aalborg Hospital & Center for Sensory-Motor Interactions (SMI), Department of Health Science and Technology, Aalborg University

Associate professor, Søren Paaske Johnsen, MD, PhD, Research consultant, Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus

Professor Hans Gregersen, MD, DMSci, MPM, Director for Research and Innovation, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital This PhD thesis is partly based on four scientific studies, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals. These studies have been carried out in the period from 2004-2009:

Study I

Andreasen JJ, Nielsen C. Prophylactic tranexamic acid in elective, primary coronary artery bypass surgery using cardiopulmonary bypass. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2004; 26: 311-7. DOI:10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.03.012

Study II

Andreasen JJ, Westen M, Jensen S, Pallesen PA, Gorst-Rasmussen A, Johnsen SP. Transfusion practice in coronary artery bypass surgery in Denmark: a multicenter audit. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2007; 6: 623-627.

DOI:10.1510/icvts.2007.154401

Study III

Andreasen JJ, Riis A, Hjortdal VE, Jørgensen J, Sørensen HT, Johnsen SP. Effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors on requirement for allogeneic red blood cell transfusion following coronary artery bypass surgery. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2006; 6: 243-50.

DOI: Not available

Study IV

Andreasen JJ, Dethlefsen C, Modrau IS, Baech J, Schønheyder HC, Møller JK, Jacobsen C-J, Møller BK, Thomsen RW, Johnsen SP. Storage time of allogeneic red blood cells is associated with risk of severe postoperative infection after coronary artery bypass grafting.

Submitted to Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, December 2009.

Abbreviations

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BSA	Body surface area
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CI	Confidence interval
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
СРВ	Cardiopulmonary bypass
DART	Danish Register of Transfusion Risks
ECC	Extracorporal circulation
ECG	Electrocardiography
EF	Ejection fraction
FFP	Fresh frozen plasma
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
ICU	Intensive care unit
IDDM	Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
OPCAB	Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting
OR	Odds ratio
PLT	Platelets
RBC	Red blood cells
RR	Relative risk
SRI	Serotonin reuptake inhibitor
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
ТА	Tranexamic acid
WBC	White blood cells

Introduction

Allogeneic blood transfusion (blood transfusion from a genetically different person) has always been an integral part of cardiac surgery including coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). A large amount of blood is consumed since CABG has evolved to become one of the most common surgical procedures performed today. Nearly one million CABG procedures are performed throughout the world every year [1] and >2000 CABG procedures, with or without concomitant valve surgery, are performed annually in Denmark [2].

Because blood for transfusion is a scarce resource and since transfusion may even be harmful [3], there is a growing awareness among surgeons and anaesthesiologists of the benefits and risks of allogeneic blood transfusion during cardiac surgery. Several clinical guidelines on blood transfusion are published [4-12], but there is still national and international variability in transfusion practices used in patients undergoing cardiac surgery despite these guidelines [1,13-16]. These circumstances strongly suggest that much more research-based knowledge is needed to gain a better understanding of the factors that determine transfusion requirements, transfusion practices, and the effectiveness and safety of blood transfusion

This PhD thesis will focus on allogeneic red blood cell (RBC) transfusion and blood conservation among patients undergoing CABG, since CABG is the most common cardiac surgery performed and because transfusion with allogeneic RBC units is associated with adverse outcomes after CABG. The four studies presented in this thesis will serve as an example of a multimodal approach to blood conservation in CABG with the potential to conserve blood and restrict transfusion to fewer patients. A multimodal approach to blood conservation is important because the cause of bleeding is multifactorial [11,17]. The findings of the individual studies will contribute to the pool of knowledge upon which future transfusion and blood conservation algorithms in cardiac surgery will be based.

7

Background

History of blood transfusion

The following chapter will briefly describe the history of blood transfusion from the early attempts to modern allogeneic transfusion support, which is a prerequisite for modern cardiac surgery. Blood has always fascinated man. In ancient Rome the blood of fallen gladiators and wild animals was lapped up by men seeking vigour [18]. In 1492, a Jewish physician promised to cure the dying Pope Innocent VIII if he had access to a certain amount of juvenile human blood. Blood was taken from three boys who died soon afterwards. The physician fled and the Pope was left uncured. There are no records to support the notion that the blood was ever used for an attempted transfusion to the Pope [19]. In 1666, Dr. Richard Lower described the first direct blood transfusion, which he performed in 1665. Lower tried to transfer blood from the jugular vein of one dog to the jugular vein of a second by means of tubes between the two animals. This first attempt failed because no pump was interposed in the outer circuit. In another attempt, Lower replaced blood from an artery of one dog into the vein of a second one, thus keeping a heavily bled dog alive by transfusion from another dog [20].

The first human transfusion was performed in France by Jean-Baptiste Denis and his group in Paris. On July 15, 1667, they transfused blood from the carotid artery of a sheep into a 15 year old boy who had been bled by his physician 20 times because of violent fever. The youth recovered [21]. Another spectacular transfusion the same year was that of a blood transfusion from a calf to a 34-year-old male. The idea was to transfer the gentle character of the calf to the patient to dampen the spirits of the patient. The transfusion was repeated three times and the patient eventually died. Transfusions from animals to humans were also performed in London in 1667 [22], but a few years later animal-to-human transfusions were prohibited by the French Parliament, The Royal Society of London, and the Church of Rome due to catastrophic results.

Hereafter, a period of approximately 150 years followed before an interest in blood transfusion was revitalized. James Blundell is recognized as the pioneer of modern blood transfusion therapy [23]. Blundell performed scientific transfusion experiments and published his results [24]. He demonstrated that only blood from the same species should be used, and he performed the first successful human-tohuman blood transfusion in 1828 [18,25]. The first human-to-human transfusion in Denmark took place in Copenhagen in 1848 [26].

One of the most important findings in relation to modern blood transfusion was Landsteiner's discovery of the first three human blood groups [27]. Landsteiner received the Nobel Prize in 1930 for his work. Approximately 14–15 years later, the discovery was made that sodium citrate prevented blood from coagulating, thus permitting cold storage of blood for several days after collection [18]. These findings paved the way for establishing blood banks during the 1930's and 1940's. Cadaver blood was used initially [18], but soon blood for transfusion was only obtained from living donors. The value of prompt transfusion of blood to resuscitate wounded soldiers from haemorrhage was generally accepted by the end of Word War I.

The availability of donor blood from modern blood banks set the scene for cardiac surgery to expand into a new era in the 1950's, when the heart-lung machine was invented [28]. Allogeneic blood was widely used to prime the heart-lung machine as well as for perioperative transfusions. Nowadays, whole blood is seldom used for transfusion. Advances in transfusion medicine have made it possible to prepare different kinds of RBC units, platelet (PLT) products, plasma, and coagulation factor concentrates from whole blood [29-31], making modern allogeneic transfusion support very specific.

The following chapters will provide the theoretical framework for this PhD study by reviewing the current literature on allogeneic RBC transfusion and blood conservation in cardiac surgery.

Transfusion variability in CABG

For several years, blood consumption in Denmark has in general been higher than in other countries. The average use of RBC varies considerable in different European countries. An average annual use of 35 RBC products per 1,000 inhabitants (range: 1–71) was observed in 2003 with the highest use in Denmark [32-37]. Furthermore, blood consumption varies considerably between Danish regions.

Allogeneic RBC transfusion rates between 8–100% have been reported during CABG in the past decade [1,16,38]. These wide differences in transfusion rates may be explained by a variety of reasons including different patient populations, differences in procedure-related factors, traditions, and norms. Therefore, individual centres should pay attention to their current transfusion practice.

Behavioural interventions aimed at supporting implementation of clinical guidelines, including a variety of educational initiatives, reminders, and audits are effective in changing physicians' transfusion practices, and therefore behavioural interventions with regular audits were suggested as part of a multimodal approach to blood conservation [39-41].

Predictors of allogeneic red blood cell transfusion during CABG

The cause of bleeding and transfusion in CABG is multifactorial, and knowledge about predictors of bleeding and transfusion is a prerequisite for preoperative risk stratification and use of rational blood conservation techniques. Risk factors that predispose CABG patients to allogeneic blood transfusions include patient- and procedure-related factors in addition to local transfusion practices.

Several preoperative patient-related predictors of bleeding and transfusion were described in the past three decades and reviews were published [11,42]. A summary of selected studies on preoperative predictors of bleeding and allogeneic blood transfusion in cardiac surgery are shown in Table 1. Over the years, age, preoperative RBC mass, female sex, and preoperative haemoglobin concentration are consistently described as predictors of bleeding and transfusion. However, the risk profile of the patients related to bleeding and transfusion has changed over the past decade as a result of an increased use of new antiplatelet drugs, increasing age of the patients, and more comorbidities among the patients.

Few preoperative variables are modifiable. Central among modifiable factors is the preoperative intake of antiplatelet drugs. These drugs can be discontinued prior to elective surgery, or surgery can be delayed until the PLT function returns to normal.

Table 1. Preoperative variables associated with bleeding and RBC transfusion during cardiac surgery including CABG.

Reference	Number of	Variables associated with bleeding/transfusion		
	patients			
Cosgrove et al. 1985 [43]	441	Red cell volume, advanced age		
Ferraris et al. 1989 [44]	159	Preoperative bleeding time, red blood cell volume		
Magovern et al. 1996 [45]	2,033	Emergent and urgent surgery, cardiogenic shock,		
		catheterization-induced coronary occlusion, low body mass		
		index, EF <30%, age >74 years, female sex, low red cell		
		mass, peripheral vascular disease, insulin-dependent		
		diabetes, renal insufficiency, re-do operation.		
Gammie et al. 1998 [46]	11	Preoperative administration of abciximab <12 hours		
Shevde et al. 2000 [47]	253	Female sex		
Karkout el al. 2001 [48]	1,007	Preoperative haemoglobin, weight, age, female sex		
Ferraris et al. 2002 [49]	2,606	Intake of aspirin		
Parr et al. 2003 [50]	600	Increased age, increased creatinine level, low BSA, low		
		haematocrit, nonelective surgery.		
Litmate et al. 2003 [51]	400	Left ventricular ejection fraction <0.35, age >70 years,		
		preoperative haemoglobin <11 g/dl, IDDM, emergency		
		operation, female sex, impaired renal function (creatinine		
		>1.6 mg/dl), and re-operation		
Scott et al. 2003 [52]	1,235	Female sex, haematocrit <35%, increasing age, decreased		
		body weight.		
Aurora et al 2004 [53]	3,046	Haemoglobin, emergent operation, renal failure, female sex,		
		age \geq 70 years, EF <0.40, re-do surgery, low BSA.		
Dial et al. 2005 [54]	613	Older age, female sex, low haemoglobin, low BSA		
Karkouti et al. 2006 [55]	10,667	Haemoglobin, previous sternotomy, shock, preoperative		
		platelet count, urgency of surgery, age		
Pickard et al. 2008 [56]	3,505	Intake of preoperative clopidogrel within 7 days		
Ranucci et al. 2009 [57]	8,989	Age >67 years, weight (<60 kg for females and <85 kg for		
		males), preoperative haematocrit, female sex, complex		
		surgery		

EF: Ejection fraction; BSA: Body surface area; IDDM: insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus

Large randomized clinical studies demonstrated beneficial antithrombotic effects of clopidogrel prior to percutaneous coronary angioplasty or in combination with acetylsalicylic acid in patients who had experienced a myocardial infarction [58-62]. However, some of these patients may eventually need CABG, and preoperative intake of these drugs within 5–7 days may increase the risk of perioperative bleeding and transfusion [63]. At the same time, patients may also be taking other antithrombotic or antiplatelet drugs such as glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors, low molecular weight heparins, direct thrombin inhibitors, and non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs prior to surgery. Discontinuing antithrombotic and antiplatelet drugs in patients with stable angina 3–7 days before elective or urgent surgery is generally recommended to decrease the risk of minor and major bleeding events and transfusion [11, 63-65]. The benefit in reducing perioperative blood loss and thus perioperative transfusion by withholding clopidogrel prior to surgery, however, will be at the expense of a 1% increased risk of myocardial infarction while awaiting surgery [64].

Several procedure-related predictors of bleeding and transfusion are described. Among these are the use of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB), which exposes blood to artificial surfaces, and mechanical trauma from the pump, time on pump, use of mild or deep perioperative hypothermia, haemodilution, use of bilateral internal mammary arteries, reduced heparin dose, and increased protamine dose after CPB, and the surgeon [11,50,54,55,66-73].

Use of specific blood conservation techniques is often based upon identified risk factors that predispose certain patients to excessive blood loss. Institution-specific protocols should, therefore, screen for high-risk patients as blood conservation interventions are likely to be most effective among these patients.

Little information is available regarding the risk of postoperative bleeding and transfusion requirements following preoperative intake of new antithrombotic drugs and other drugs with antiplatelet effects. Therefore, more clinical and epidemiological studies are needed to identify new predictors of microvascular bleeding, i.e. non-surgical bleeding during cardiac surgery.

12

Potential benefits of red blood cell transfusion in CABG

Allogeneic blood transfusion may be given to a treat life-threatening haemorrhage during surgery, but most often transfusion of blood components is given to increase the oxygen-carrying capacity of the blood or to improve haemostasis. Thus, transfusions are given in an attempt to treat or prevent a potential adverse outcome. There is, however, a lack of clear evidence regarding the benefit of RBC transfusion when it comes to enhancing the oxygen-carrying capacity of blood.

Only a few randomised trials were carried out to identify the potential benefits of RBC transfusion. A randomised, controlled study in 838 critically ill, normovolemic patients in an intensive care unit (ICU) produced equivalent results when the rates of all-cause mortality at 30 days and severity of organ dysfunction when a restrictive strategy of red-cell transfusion, i.e. haemoglobin concentration between 7– 9 g/dl (4.4–5.7 mmol/l), was compared with a liberal strategy, i.e. haemoglobin concentration at 10–12 g/dl (6.3–7.5 mmol/l) [74]. The restrictive strategy of RBC transfusion was at least as effective as and possibly superior to the liberal transfusion strategy. The restrictive strategy also appeared to be safe in critically ill patients with cardiovascular disease, with the possible exception of patients with acute myocardial infarction and unstable angina [75].

Another randomised study in 428 elective, primary CABG patients found that there were no differences in clinical outcomes, including morbidity and mortality, between two groups of patients assigned to receive RBC transfusion if the postoperative haemoglobin was <8 g/dl (5.0 mmol/l) or <9 g/dl (5.7 mmol/l), respectively [76]. The level of self-assessed fatigue was also similar in the two groups.

A randomised trial in 39 autologous blood donors undergoing elective complete myocardial revascularisation compared two different transfusion strategies for postoperative packed RBC replacement. The liberally-transfused group was transfused to achieve a haematocrit value of 32%, whereas the conservative group received transfusion for a haematocrit less than 25% [77]. A larger degree of haemodilution was not associated with significant incremental risks; however, it should be noted that

the number of patients included in this study was small and the statistical precision of the findings was, therefore, moderate.

A number of database studies in cardiac surgery reported that decreased perioperative haematocrit values is associated with decreased survival. In a study in 6,980 patients undergoing CABG, the lowest haematocrit during CPB was significantly associated with increased risk of in-hospital mortality, intra- or postoperative placement of an intraaortic balloon pump, and return to CPB after attempted separation [78]. Another study found an association between the lowest haematocrit in the ICU and adverse outcome following cardiac surgery [79]. Fang et al. [80] found a significantly increased risk of mortality only when the haematocrit levels decreased to 14%. For high-risk patients, there was a significantly increased risk of mortality for haematocrit levels \leq 17%. These results were interpreted as supporting an aggressive effort to avoid haematocrit values <20% during cardiopulmonary bypass [81]. These studies, however, did not look into the effect of transfusions, and low haematocrit values may simply be markers for transfused patients. The adverse outcome in patients with low haematocrit values could potentially be caused by transfusion itself.

No "optimal" haematocrit or haemoglobin concentration is established in cardiac surgery. The classical "10/30" rule, suggesting that transfusion should be given to maintain a haemoglobin concentration of 10 g/dl (6.3 mmol/l) and a haematocrit of 30%, was abandoned several years ago [29,82]. Today, much lower haemoglobin and haematocrit values are accepted. However, there are no clinically available methods for measuring regional tissue oxygenation to identify when there is a need for RBC transfusion. Observational studies among CABG patients, who refused blood transfusions for religious reasons, suggest that survival without transfusion is possible at low haemoglobin concentrations. Mortality is first encountered at haemoglobin concentrations below 5 g/dl (3.1 mmol/l) [80,83].

During the past three decades, traditional transfusion triggers were constantly challenged. Despite published blood transfusion guidelines [4,7,9,11,82,84-86] and reviews on transfusion management in patients undergoing cardiac surgery [8,9, 87-90], there is still no consensus as to when transfusion is needed. Transfusion guidelines only rely on expert opinion and observational studies. General guidelines from the Danish National Board of Health [12] recommend that transfusion with RBC should depend on the age of the patient, the speed at which anaemia develops, concomitant diseases, and the cause of anaemia. Furthermore, attention should be paid to physiological and clinical indicators of anaemia, i.e. hemodynamic variables such as cardiac index below 2 l/min, tachycardia, oliguria, mixed venous saturation less than 0.60, decreasing cardiac filling pressures, and decreasing systemic and pulmonary blood pressure. The guidelines also indicate that there is no documentation to support RBC transfusion when the haemoglobin concentration is >6 mmol/l, but is almost always indicated when the haemoglobin concentration is <4.5 mmol/l. Every patient should be evaluated individually, especially when the haemoglobin concentration is between 4.5–6.3 mmol/l. Similar guidelines and reviews were published abroad [29-31,91].

The potential benefits of RBC transfusion must be weighed against the risks before any decision to transfuse is made. A review regarding the risks and adverse outcomes following allogeneic RBC transfusion is presented in the next chapter.

Adverse outcomes following allogeneic red blood cell transfusion in CABG

Potential immunological and non-immunological risks related to allogeneic transfusion are well described [12,29-31,92-96]. Traditional infectious risks include hepatitis A, hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and bacteria. At the beginning of this century, the calculated risks of transfusion-related viral infections in Denmark were 1:2,000,000 for HIV, 1:500,000 for hepatitis B, and 1:250,000 for hepatitis C [95]. These rates will be further reduced when nucleic acid testing to detect viral DNA is fully established. Other non-immunological risks are acute and delayed haemolytic reaction, bleeding, volume overload, hyperkalaemia, hypocalcaemia, citrate intoxication, cooling of the heart, and iron overload. These adverse effects of transfusion may vary between different countries, especially regarding the risk of viral disease transmission [97].

Since 1999, data on transfusion complications in Denmark are collected and registered in the Danish Register of Transfusion Risks (DART) [98]. DART is part of the Danish haemovigilance system that covers the registration of collected, produced, and transfused blood components, and complications in connection with transfusion of these products. During the first nine years, the report rate to DART concerning severe risk/error in the transfusion chain was 3 per 100,000 components transfused. More than half of the severe events (56%) concerned the transfusion of an incorrect blood component. More than a third concerned immunological complications (38%). Only 6% of the reported events concerned transmitted infections. Five patients died and 47 patients experienced major morbidity [99].

An increasing number of observational studies indicate that allogeneic RBC transfusion during CABG surgery is associated with both early and long-term mortality [100-108], but conflicting results were found among other patient groups. Transfusions seem to have no effect on the long-term mortality rate after isolated valve surgery; however, transfusion is associated with increased mortality when valve surgery is combined with CABG [109]. Studies among patients undergoing surgery for hip fractures showed both increased and no association between transfusion and long-term mortality, respectively [110,111]. In a study in ICU patients, transfusions were associated with improved long-term survival [112]. These findings suggest that the type of surgery may play a role in the outcome following transfusion.

Allogeneic RBC transfusion following cardiac surgery, including CABG, was also reported to be associated with postoperative morbidity, as shown in Table 2. Only a very few studies disagree with these findings [113].

A number of observational studies indicated an association between storage time of RBC and patient outcome, both in cardiac surgery [108,123] and outside the cardiac surgical setting [123-126]. However, this association was not confirmed by other studies, and the strength and causality of this association remain uncertain [127-131]. These differences may be attributed to the heterogeneity of patient populations, transfusion of different blood products, different outcome measures, and different study designs.

Table 2. Postoperative morbidity associated with allogeneic red blood cell transfusion in cardiac surgery

Reference	Number	Outcome associated with red blood cell transfusion
	of patients	
	included	
Michalopoulos et al.1998 [114]	2,615	Severe sepsis
Leal-Noval et al. 2001 [115]	738	Nosocomial pneumonia
Chelemer et al. 2002 [116]	533	Respiratory and surgical site infection
Koch et al. 2006 [117]	7,321	Reduced health-related quality of life
Koch et al. 2006 [104]	11,963	Renal failure, prolonged ventilatory support, serious
		infection, cardiac complications, neurologic events
Banbury et al. 2006 [118]	15,293	Septicaemia/bacteraemia, superficial and deep sternal
		wound infection
Koch et al. 2006 [119]	5,841	Postoperative atrial fibrillation
Rogers et al. 2007 [103]	8,518	Respiratory or wound infection or septicaemia, ischemic
		outcomes (myocardial infarction, stroke, renal
		impairment, or failure),
Rogers et al. 2007 [120]	380	Infection, pulmonary dysfunction
Whitson et al. 2007 [121]	2,691	Renal failure, prolonged ventilation time, cardiac arrest,
		gastrointestinal complications, atrial fibrillation, stroke,
		myocardial infarction
Scott et al. 2008 [107]	1,746	Increased time to extubation, increased stay in the ICU,
		and increased postoperative length of stay
Shander et al. 2009 [122]	455	Nosocomial infection (pneumonia, sepsis, urinary tract
		infection, surgical site infection, catheter-associated
		bacteraemia, osteomyelitis, septic arthritis, cardiovascular
		infection)
Koch et al. 2009 [96]	16,847	Pulmonary morbidity

ICU: Intensive Care Unit;

The reason for a potential impact of RBC transfusion on morbidity and mortality is unclear. Well described storage lesions of the blood may be involved [132-136], but there is no clear evidence to support this hypothesis. Typical storage lesions include:

- 1. Decreased levels of 2,3-diphosphoglycerate (2,3-DPG) reversibly, shifting the haemoglobinoxygen dissociation curve to the left.
- Decreased levels of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) associated with morphologic changes of the RBC.
- 3. The normal biconcave disc shaped form of the RBC swells to form a sphere with multiple spicules, and membrane phospholipids are lost.
- 4. Loss of deformability of RBC, which may disturb the flow through the microcirculation.
- Increased adhesion of RBC to the vascular endothelium, which may lead to vascular obstruction.
- 6. Accumulation of proinflammatory/immunomodulating bioactive substances released from leucocytes to the storage medium.

Laboratory studies in rats indicate that transfusion does not improve oxygen delivery to tissues [137,138]. However, studies in rats are of limited relevance in relation to humans because of the faster aging of rat RBC, and the failure of stored RBC from rats to regenerate 2,3-DPG like human RBC can [139]. An association between a decrease in gastric intramucosal pH and the age of transfused blood among patients with sepsis was interpreted as development of splanchnic ischemia [140]. In contrast, transfusion of stored leucocyte-depleted RBCs caused no clinically significant adverse effects on gastric tonometry or global indexes of tissue oxygenation among euvolemic, critically-ill patients randomised to receive fresh (\leq 5 days) versus older (\geq 20 days) blood [141].

The immunosuppressive effects of allogeneic blood transfusion were accepted as an explanation for enhanced renal graft survival in the 1970s [142] and the immunological effects of allogeneic blood may be a part of the explanation for an increased risk for infectious post-transfusion outcomes, although any definitive mechanism has not yet been proven.

Randomised controlled studies in cardiac surgery indicate that transfusion with white blood cell (WBC)-reduced RBC units, compared with standard buffy-coat-reduced RBC transfusion, results in

lower postoperative infection and mortality rates [143-146], while other studies found no such effect [106,147-149]. This difference between studies may be a consequence of different amounts of WBCs in the non-WBC reduced blood products.

Since there is no clear evidence to support the view that transfusion actually improves patient outcome in all situations during CABG, surgeons and anaesthesiologists need further information from studies on transfusion outcome to balance the potential benefits and risks of allogeneic RBC blood transfusion.

Blood conservation during cardiac surgery with special reference to use of antifibrinolytic drugs

Blood conservation during cardiac surgery is used to reduce bleeding and allogeneic blood transfusion. Reviews of recommendations for multimodal blood conservation programs are comprehensive [11,150]. Available techniques include screening for risk factors associated with bleeding, use of drugs to increase the preoperative blood volume or to decrease postoperative bleeding, devices that conserve blood (e.g. intraoperative cell saving and postoperative reinfusion of shed mediastinal blood), interventions that protect the patients' own blood from the stress of the operation, and from CPB (e.g. intraoperative normovolemic haemodilution). Most important is a multimodal approach because of the multifactorial causes of bleeding.

Among frequently used techniques for blood conservation are pharmacological strategies. Antifibrinolytic drugs have been used for almost two decades. Several reviews, including meta-analyses and Cochrane reviews, were published [151-158]. Two drugs were used equally frequently in Denmark [159]: the synthetic lysine derivate tranexamic acid (TA), and the bovine-derived aprotonin. TA acts mostly by competitive inhibition of the lysine binding sites in plasminogen, resulting in retardation of fibrinolysis [160]. Aprotinin, a serine protease inhibitor, mostly acts by inhibiting plasmin, resulting in attenuation of fibrinolysis [157]. The effects of TA and aprotinin were investigated in a large number of randomized trials. Both drugs are effective in reducing postoperative bleeding and the need for blood transfusion [153,156,158]. However, an observational study [161] in 2006 reported an association between aprotinin and an increased risk of renal failure, myocardial infarction, heart failure, and stroke. Furthermore, a large, randomized, multicenter study in 2007 was terminated before the last patient was enrolled because of a higher death rate in high-risk patients receiving aprotinin compared with TA and aminocaproic acid [162]. In addition, aprotinin may increase the risk of saphenous vein graft occlusion in CABG [163]. Aprotinin was, therefore, withdrawn from the market in November 2007, although some investigators report that it remains a matter of speculation whether the quality and results of published data justify the withdrawal of aprotinin [164].

Aims and Hypotheses

This PhD thesis deals with allogeneic RBC transfusion during CABG with special reference to predictors of transfusion, transfusion variability, outcome following transfusion, and perioperative blood conservation. The general objective of this PhD thesis was to perform four independent but related studies, which when combined will serve as an example of a multimodal approach to blood conservation during CABG. The goal was to provide institution-specific and new information to create a background for optimizing transfusion practices and the use of blood conservation techniques, thus avoiding unnecessary transfusions.

The specific aims of the individual studies were:

- 1. To examine whether perioperative use of prophylactic TA decreases chest tube drainage and the proportion of patients undergoing primary, elective, on-pump CABG who require perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion.
- 2. To audit transfusion practices during CABG in Denmark to compare transfusion practices among patients undergoing first-time CABG at different hospitals.
- To examine whether transfusion requirements were increased in patients undergoing CABG following preoperative use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) compared with other antidepressants.

4. To determine whether storage-time of transfused allogeneic RBC is associated with severe postoperative infections (deep sternal wound infection, bacteraemia and septicaemia) among patients undergoing CABG.

Specific hypotheses were tested in four different studies (I–IV), corresponding with the papers listed previously (page 5):

- 1. Perioperative infusion of TA during CABG will decrease postoperative bleeding and the proportion of patients requiring perioperative allogeneic blood transfusions.
- Allogeneic RBC transfusion rates in isolated first-time CABG vary among Danish public hospitals, and institution is an independent predictor of the use of blood products. The transfusion rate is higher in Aalborg Hospital compared with other centres in Denmark.
- Requirements of allogeneic blood transfusions are increased in patients undergoing CABG following preoperative use of SSRIs.
- Increased storage time (≥14 days) of allogeneic RBC is associated with increased risk of severe postoperative infections following transfusion among patients undergoing CABG.

Methodology, materials and methods

Detailed descriptions of materials and methods for each study included in this thesis can be found in the respective papers (I–IV). A summary is provided below.

Methodology

The studies for this PhD thesis evolved as a part of continuing efforts to optimize the use of bloodsparing techniques, including transfusion practices in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital. The initial study (Study I) was a randomized study comparing perioperative infusion of TA and placebo to determine the efficacy of TA in decreasing chest tube drainage and the proportion of patients requiring perioperative allogeneic transfusions during primary elective CABG using CPB. The decision to perform this study was made because no perioperative drugs were routinely in use to inhibit fibrinolysis, although recurrent bleeding problems were observed in the patients. Because the effect of perioperative infusion of TA in Study I was disappointing compared with results from abroad, a comprehensive multimodal approach to blood conservation during cardiac surgery was instituted to create further institution-specific knowledge about transfusion practices and use of blood conservation techniques. Three additional studies (Studies II, III, and IV) were planned and carried out to improve the knowledge in the field.

Information from the Danish Transfusion Database indicated a liberal use of blood products in the Northern Region of Denmark. Therefore, a study (Study II) of transfusion practices in Denmark during CABG was commenced to better understand the factors that determine the use of blood products. Study III was initiated because previous studies showed that intake of SSRI, which inhibit PLT function [165,166], was associated with an increased risk of bleeding events, including bleeding and a subsequent need for blood transfusion during orthopaedic surgery [167-170]. Increasing use of new drugs inhibiting PLT, for example, may change the risk profile of patients, and Study III serves as an example of a study evaluating potential new drug-related risk factors related to bleeding and transfusion during cardiac surgery. No previous studies on the potential association between preoperative intake of SSRIs and transfusion requirements in cardiac surgery had been performed. Finally, a study (Study IV) on potential adverse outcomes following transfusion of RBC during CABG was performed. This study was based on a possible association between RBC transfusion and the development of severe postoperative infections. This study was highly relevant because periodic problems with postoperative deep sternal wound infections in our department were observed without obvious explanation.

Denmark was chosen as the unit of analysis in Study II for three theoretical reasons: firstly, there are only a few cardiothoracic centres in Denmark (five public university-affiliated units); secondly, most of

22

the surgeons, especially the senior surgeons, were educated in the same way through residencies in one or two of the major centres in Denmark (Rigshospitalet and/or Skejby Hospital); and finally, the patient population is very comparable and homogeneous because of the relatively small geographical area of Denmark.

Studies III and IV were population-based observational cohort studies based on data from Danish medical registries. These study designs were chosen because the possibility to perform such studies is unique in Denmark because the entire population is provided with tax-supported health care by the National Health Services. This guarantees free access to family physicians and public hospitals. Refunds are available for a variable proportion of the costs of drugs prescribed by physicians. The unambiguous linkage between population-based registers and clinical databases can be performed using the civil registry number, which is a unique permanent personal identification number given to all Danish citizens. The study units in Studies III and IV were located in two Regions in the North-Western part of Denmark because of the availability of data from unique prescription databases and microbiological databases maintained in the regions.

Several other aspects regarding perioperative blood transfusion and blood conservation in CABG related to this thesis could have been undertaken. The studies included were initiated because of ongoing clinical challenges and new questions that arose at the time the studies were commenced.

Ethical and legal issues

All studies were conducted according to the guidelines of the Danish National Committee on Biomedical Research Ethics and the randomized study (Study I) was approved by the local Ethics Committee. Informed written consent was obtained from all patients included in Study I. All epidemiological studies (Studies II, III, and IV) were approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency and all studies complied with current Danish law.

Materials and methods

Study populations

Study I

The study population consisted of 46 consecutive adult patients undergoing primary, elective, onpump CABG at Aalborg hospital. Exclusion criteria included treatment with non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs such as acetylsalicylic acid or other PLT inhibitors within 7 days prior to surgery, preoperative heparin administration, a history of coagulopathy, thrombocytopenia (PLT count <50 x 10^{9} /l), preoperative haemoglobin <6.0 mmol/l, serum creatinine >115 µmol/l, pregnancy, and patients who refused transfusions for religious reasons.

Study II

We intended to include patients who underwent first-time CABG during 2004 in all public, university-affiliated hospitals in Denmark because these hospitals were comparable with regard to the staff and other resources. Skejby Hospital was, however, unable to participate in the study; therefore, the study was carried out in only four hospitals (Aalborg Hospital, Rigshospitalet, Gentofte Hospital, and Odense University Hospital). A total of 600 patients (150 consecutive patients from each hospital) were included.

Study III

This study was conducted within the population of the Northern and Central Denmark Regions. These regions comprise approximately 1.8 million persons or 33% of the total population of Denmark. All patients undergoing CABG, with or without concomitant cardiac surgery, at either Aalborg (January 1, 2000 to December 31, 2003) or Skejby Hospital (January 1, 1998 to December 31, 2003) were included in the study. Patients whose address was outside the regions referring patients to the two hospitals or who had lived within the regions for less than one year were excluded to ensure that data regarding the use of antidepressants and blood transfusions were available. A total of 3,516 patients were identified. Of these, 62 patients (1.8%) had filled prescriptions for more than one type of antidepressant before the day of admission for CABG. These patients were excluded from the study, leaving 3,454 patients in the final analyses.

Study IV

This study was also conducted within the populations of the Northern and Central Denmark Regions. We identified 4,279 patients who underwent CABG, with or without concomitant cardiac surgery, in either Aalborg or Skejby Hospital during the study period (June 2, 2003 to July 31, 2008). Thirty-four patients were excluded because they died within 48 hours postoperatively. These patients were defined as not being at risk of developing severe postoperative infection (deep sternal infection and bacteraemia/septicaemia), which was the primary outcome of interest. Furthermore, five patients were excluded due to missing data regarding the body mass index of the patients, leaving 4,240 patients available in the final analyses.

Study designs

Study I

This was a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Patients were randomized to one of two groups. The randomization schedule was based on a random number sequence provided in sealed envelopes. Randomization and preparation of the drug/placebo was carried out just prior to anaesthesia by a staff member not involved in the treatment of the patient. One group received TA 1.5 g as a bolus, followed by a constant infusion of TA 200 mg/hour until 1.5 g was administered. The other group received placebo (0.9% saline). Routine anaesthesia, surgical, and perfusion techniques were employed. Indications for perioperative transfusion of allogeneic RBC were a haematocrit below 22% and/or mixed venous blood saturation below 65%. Allogeneic packed RBC (buffy-coat reduced RBC units) were transfused postoperatively if the haematocrit was below 25% and the mixed venous blood saturation was below 60%. Primary outcome measures were postoperative blood loss and the

proportion of patients requiring allogeneic transfusion. The postoperative chest tube output from 0-6 hours and 0-12 hours was registered.

Study II

A retrospective review of consecutive medical records was performed. Patients were identified through the local hospital discharge registries. Pre-, peri-, and postoperative data were collected on paper forms directly from the patient records and keyed into a database afterwards. The crude and adjusted relative risks (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for transfusion requirements were calculated to compare these outcomes between hospitals. The RRs were adjusted for several possible confounding factors related to bleeding and transfusion.

Study III

This study was a population-based cohort study. Patients were identified through the hospital discharge registries. Linkage between various registries and databases was performed using the unique civil registration number of each patient to retrieve pre-, peri-, and postoperative data. Other registries and databases used were the Central Population Registry, which has electronic records of any change of address, date of emigration, and date of death for the entire Danish population since 1968, the Danish National Hospital Registry [171], the Danish Transfusion Database, which monitors the use of blood components in Denmark (http://www.dtdb.dk/default_eng.aspx), and prescription databases maintained in the counties [172]. All data were retrieved electronically and transferred to a study database for further analyses.

Patients were classified according to their most recent antidepressant use and as having received either none or at least one unit of any blood component. The potential association between preoperative intake of antidepressives, including SSRIs, and perioperative transfusion requirements was evaluated by calculating the RRs with 95% CIs, adjusting for several possible confounding factors.

26

Study IV

This study was also a population-based cohort study. Patients were identified through the Western Denmark Heart Registry, which keeps track of all examinations and treatments regarding patients admitted for adult cardiac surgery in the western part of Denmark. Other registries and databases used were the Danish National Hospital Registry, local transfusion databases at the hospitals, local clinical biochemical databases in the central laboratories of the hospitals, the North Denmark Bacteraemia Research Database [173], and a similar local clinical microbiological database in Skejby Hospital. In case of missing electronic records, the variables were obtained manually from the medical records when possible. The association between allogeneic RBC transfusion and the development of severe infections (deep sternal wound infection and bacteraemia/septicaemia) within 90 days was evaluated, adjusting for available possible confounding factors. Stratified analyses according to transfusion and storage time of RBC were carried out, comparing crude and risk-adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% CI for the development of severe infection following transfusion of RBC stored for <14 days and ≥14 days using the OR for the non-transfused patients as the reference group. An evaluation of a possible risk-adjusted dose-response relationship between the number of transfused RBC units and the development of severe infection following transfused RBC units and the development of severe infection for s

Statistical methods

The statistical analyses varied in the different studies (I–IV). Descriptive statistics included mean, standard deviation, median, interquartile range, and percentage when appropriate. Groups were compared using *t*-tests, Wilcoxon's rank sum tests, or Mann-Whitney *U* test for continuous variables, and chi-squared tests or Fisher's exact tests for categorical variables. When more than two groups were compared (Study II), differences between groups were tested for statistical significance using chi-squared tests, analysis of variance, and in case of non-normality, Kruskal-Wallis tests. Sampling distributions regarding the use of blood products were not normally distributed; therefore, nonparametric statistical methods were used in these situations. Poisson regression with robust

27

variance was used to compare the use of allogeneic blood transfusion between the hospitals in Study II. Specifically, the RRs with 95% CI were computed for a requirement of ≥1 allogeneic blood transfusion. Poisson regression was used in Studies II and III because, in contrast with logistic regression, it may provide a more accurate estimate of adjusted RRs in cohorts with common outcomes [174]. RRs were adjusted for potential confounding factors. In Study IV, logistic regression was used to compute the OR with 95% CI.

A sample size calculation using a statistical software program (MEDSTAT, version 2.1, January 1998, Astra-gruppen A/S, Copenhagen) was carried out prior to Study I, although this was not described in the published paper. It was calculated that 46 patients should be included in the study. This number was based upon a probability of type I error (α) of 0.05, a probability of type II error (β) of 0.1, an expected standard deviation of 0.1 l, and a clinically important minimal detectable difference of postoperative chest tube drainage of at least 10% (i.e. 100 ml). A *P*-value <0.05 was defined as the level of significance that would lead to rejection of the null hypothesis, H_0 . The probabilities of the two errors α and β can be described as $\alpha = P$ (reject $H_0|H_0$ is true) and $\beta = P$ (fails to reject $H_0|H_0$ is false).

Several other different statistical software packages were also used; SPSS statistical software version 10 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL), Microsoft® Excel 2000, SAS version 8.00 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA), and Stata Statistical Software versions 9.1 and 10.1 (Texas, USA, StataCorp LP).

Summary of results

Study I

The flow chart for Study I is shown in Figure 1. The flow diagram depicts information from all four stages of the trial, i.e. enrolment, intervention allocation, follow-up, and analysis.

Patients who underwent reoperation because of bleeding were excluded from the analyses regarding chest tube output to reduce the risk of confounding by surgical bleeding. Seven patients (15%), one in the TA group and six in the placebo group, were reoperated due to excessive bleeding. Surgically-correctable bleeding was found in all but two patients in the placebo group.

Figure 1. Flowchart for Study I.



An antifibrinolytic effect following prophylactic use of TA during elective, primary CABG among patients with a low risk of postoperative bleeding was confirmed by plasma concentrations of D-dimer. Although blood loss at 6 and 12 hours postoperatively was higher in the placebo group compared with the TA group, the differences did not reach statistical significance (Table 3).

 Table 3. Postoperative blood loss and transfusion requirements among patients undergoing first-time, elective

 coronary artery bypass grafting

Variable	Tranexamic acid n = 20	Placebo n =17	<i>P</i> -value
Chest tube drainage, 6 hours (ml)	400 (366 - 550)	710 (460 – 950)	> 0.05
Chest tube drainage, 12 hours (ml)	730 (510 - 890)	880 (610 - 1500)	> 0.05
Autotransfusion of unwashed,			
shed mediastinal blood, 6 hours (ml)	300 (250 - 450)	600 (400 - 700)	> 0.05
Patients receiving any allogeneic			
transfusion postoperatively	6 (30%)	5 (29%)	> 0.05

Data are presented as the median and interquartile range or as number and % of patients.

The proportions of patients who received allogeneic blood transfusions postoperatively were not significantly different between the groups. There was one early sudden death in the treatment group after an initially uneventful postoperative course. No patients experienced postoperative renal insufficiency, myocardial infarction, mediastinal infection, transient ischemic attack, or stroke within 30 days.

Study II

Baseline characteristics of the included patients were comparable between the participating hospitals except for the proportion of patients receiving surgery without discontinuing platelet inhibitors

(acetylsalicylic acid and clopidogrel) preoperatively. Perioperative differences were the frequency of off-pump techniques used, use of antifibrinolytic drugs, and lowest haemoglobin level during CPB. The percentage of patients transfused with allogeneic RBC varied from 30.0% to 64.2%, and the adjusted RR of receiving allogeneic RBC was more than twofold higher (RR: 2.1; 95% CI: 1.6 - 2.7) in the hospital with the highest transfusion rate (Hospital 1 = Aalborg Hospital) compared with the reference group (Table 4). "Hospital" was an independent predictor of allogeneic blood transfusion. The percentage of transfused with a haemoglobin concentration >7 mmol/l, indicating unnecessary transfusions, varied between 12.1–42.7%.

Table 4. Crude and adjusted relative risks (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for allogeneic red blood cell transfusion among patients undergoing first-time coronary artery bypass grafting according to institution.

Hospital	Crude RR (95% CI)	Adjusted RR (95% CI)	
1 (Aalborg)	2.2 (1.6 - 2.9)	2.1 (1.6 – 2.7)	
2	1.3 (0.9 – 1.8)	1.1 (0.8 – 1.6)	
3	1.6 (1.1 – 2.2)	1.7 (1.3 – 2.3)	
4	1.0 (Reference)	(Reference)	

RRs were adjusted for EuroSCORE, preoperative haemoglobin, preoperative platelet count, INR (international normalized ratio), preoperative use of antiplatelet drugs, use of antifibrinolytic drugs, use of CPB, CPB time, cross-clamp time, and number of distal anastomoses.

Study III

Overall, 2,322 patients (67%) required allogeneic blood transfusion. In comparison, 2,015 of 3,025 (67%) patients who never used antidepressants required allogeneic transfusion. Similar results were found when the analyses were restricted to specific types of blood components, i.e. RBC, fresh frozen plasma (FFP), and PLT.

The number of transfusions required by patients who received blood transfusion did not differ substantially according to the use of antidepressants. The crude and adjusted RRs for transfusion

requirements with 95% CIs according to use of antidepressants are shown in Table 5. No increased requirements for blood transfusion were found, either among former users of SSRIs or among current users of non-selective SRIs and other antidepressants. The haemoglobin levels at the time of discharge did not vary among transfused users of the various types of antidepressants. The risk of re-operation due to bleeding did not appear to be associated with use of antidepressants, including use of SSRIs, and we found no clear associations between use of antidepressants and 30-day mortality.

Table 5. Crude and adjusted relative risks (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for allogeneic blood transfusion among patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting according to use of antidepressants.

Category of use	Patients (n = 3,454)	Patients requiring transfusion $(n = 2,322)$	Crude RR (95 % CI)	Adjusted RR (95 % CI)
Never user SSRI:	3,025	2,015	1.0 (reference)	1.0 (reference)
-Current user	124	94	1.2 (0.9–1.4)	1.1 (0.9–1.3)
-Former user	133	90	1.0 (0.8–1.3)	1.0 (0.8–1.2)
Non-selective SRI:				
-Current user	40	25	0.9 (0.6–1.4)	0.9 (0.6–1.3)
-Former user	54	43	1.2 (0.6–1.6)	1.2 (0.9–1.6)
Other antidepressants:				
-Current user	37	27	1.1 (0.7–1.6)	1.0 (0.7–1.6)
-Former user	41	28	1.0 (0.7–1.5)	0.9 (0.6–1.4)

Category of use was defined as: Never user (no recorded prescriptions for any type of antidepressants before the day of admission for CABG), current users (filled a prescription within 0–90 days before the day of admission for CABG), and former users (filled a prescription >90 days before the day of admission for CABG). Persons using more than one category of antidepressants were excluded (n=62). SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; RRs were adjusted for age, sex, preoperative use of platelet inhibitors (low-dose aspirin, clopidogrel, and dipyridamole), nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and oral anticoagulants, place of surgery (Aalborg/Skejby), use of CPB, concomitant valve surgery, and Charlson comorbidity index.

Study IV

A total of 1,748 patients (41%) were transfused with allogeneic RBC. Figure 2 shows the number of

RBC units transfused during CABG to the patients included in Study IV.

Figure 2. Number of red blood cell units transfused to each of 1,748 patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting, with or without concomitant cardiac surgery, at Aalborg and Skejby Hospitals.



More than half of the transfused patients received 1–2 units of RBC. The mean storage time of the RBC was 14.0 days (range, 1–35 days). A total of 165 patients (3.9%) developed severe postoperative infections. Deep sternal wound infection was identified in 96 patients (2.2%). Twenty-one of these patients (1.2%) also experienced septicaemia/bacteraemia, and 69 patients (2.1%) developed septicaemia/bacteraemia without deep sternal wound infections. Allogeneic blood transfusion was associated with an increased risk of developing severe postoperative infection compared with non-transfused patients (OR 1.6%; 95% CI: 0.9–2.8). However, patients who were exclusively transfused with RBC stored for \geq 14 days were 2.5 times more likely to develop severe infections compared with those who were not transfused (Table 6). In contrast, transfusion with blood stored for <14 days was not

associated with any substantial increased risk of severe infection. There was a risk-adjusted, doseresponse relationship between the number of transfused RBC units and the risk of developing severe infections. The crude risk of severe infection was increased by 17% for each transfused unit of RBC among patients who were transfused exclusively with RBC stored for \geq 14 days (OR 1.17; 95% CI: 1.07– 1.27). After adjusting for confounders, the risk was increased by 23% (OR: 1.23; 95% CI: 1.11–1.35) for each transfused unit. The dose-response relationship was weaker among patients exclusively transfused with RBC stored for <14 days (adjusted OR: 1.09; 95% CI: 1.01–1.17).

Table 6. Crude and adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the development of severe postoperative infection according to transfusion and storage time of red blood cells.

	All patients (n=4.240)	Patients developing severe infection (n=165)	Crude OR (95 % CI)	Adjusted OR (95 % CI)
Non-transfused	2.492	55	1.0 (reference)	1.0 (reference)
Transfused (red blood	1.748	110	3.0 (2.1-4.1)	1.6 (0.9-2.8)
cells)				
Storage time only < 14	953	44	2.1 (1.4-3.2)	1.2 (0.6-2.4)
days				
Storage time only ≥ 14	548	38	3.3 (2.2-5.0)	2.5 (1.2-5.4)
days				

The ORs were adjusted for age, sex, body mass index, preoperative haemoglobin concentration, diabetes mellitus, reoperation due to bleeding, use of CPB, concomitant valve surgery, hospital of surgery, Charlson comorbidity index, number of transfused RBC units, number of transfused PLT units, ABO blood group of the patient, and minor and major ABO-incompatibility of PLT transfusions.

General discussion in relation to existing literature

The value of a multimodal approach to blood conservation was pointed out by several investigators [11,175,176], supporting the fundamental idea of conducting four different but related studies for which this thesis serves as an example of a multimodal approach to blood conservation in CABG.

Study I showed that perioperative prophylactic use of TA in patients undergoing elective, primary on-pump CABG with a low risk of postoperative bleeding reduced postoperative bleeding, but the results did not reach statistical significance compared with placebo. Furthermore, transfusion requirements were not reduced. These findings highlight the need for a multimodal approach to blood conservation because prophylactic use of TA does not eliminate bleeding by itself.

Study II showed that variation in the use of allogeneic RBC transfusion during CABG between Danish hospitals could not be explained by patient- or procedure-related factors alone, but reflects real hospital-related differences in transfusion practices.

Study III focused on preoperative intake of SSRIs as a possible predictor for transfusion, but no clear association between preoperative use of antidepressants, including SSRIs, and the requirement for an allogeneic blood transfusion was identified.

Study IV showed that transfusion of allogeneic RBC was associated with a 1.6-fold increased risk of developing severe postoperative infections following CABG compared with non-transfused patients. Patients who were transfused exclusively with RBC stored for ≥14 days were 2.5 times more likely to develop severe infections compared with non-transfused patients. In contrast, no substantial increased risk was observed following transfusion exclusively with RBC units stored for <14 days. Although Study IV was an observational study with all the inherent risks of confounding with this kind of study, these results should alert surgeons and anaesthesiologist that allogeneic RBC transfusions may put patients at risk. Potential risks and the potential adverse outcomes following transfusion should be weighed against the potential benefits in every patient.

Antifibrinolytic prophylaxis for patients undergoing CABG

Aprotinin was still on the market for cardiac surgery when Study I was commenced. TA was studied in instead of aprotinin because aprotinin was more expensive and carried a risk of anaphylactic reactions [177]. Furthermore, a meta-analysis showed that there were insufficient data to conclude that aprotinin treatment would result in a better clinical outcome compared with TA [153].

Perioperative use of TA reduced postoperative bleeding in Study I compared with placebo as in most other studies [156,158], but the difference did not reach statistical significance. Differences in patient populations, dosing regimen, and the contemporary use of other kinds of blood conservation methods may have contributed to this discrepancy. We studied a group a low risk patients, but when this was taken into account most other studies still reported a statistically significant reduction in bleeding and transfusion requirements following prophylactic use of TA [178-183], with the exception of the results from another small study [184]. Based on the large volume of research showing that perioperative use of TA reduces postoperative bleeding, it is reasonably to assume that the findings in Study I may be explained by a type II error. A statistically significant reduction in bleeding following prophylactic use of TA would probably have been observed if more patients had been included in the study.

Inadequate surgical haemostasis may also have influenced the results, because the re-exploration rate due to excessive bleeding was extremely high (15%), exceeding published re-exploration rates between 2.6 – 6.6% following CABG [2,73,185,186]. Moreover, the total blood loss among patients included in Study I tended to be higher than the reported blood loss in other studies among comparable patients [180,181]. The findings from Study I indicate that meticulous efforts to achieve surgical haemostasis in a surgical department with a high re-exploration rate may be more rewarding than the use of TA by itself.

Another explanation for the findings in Study I could be related to a risk of inadequate dosing of TA. Most studies administered TA on a weight-dependent basis, and several dosing regimens are reported [187]. Initial doses often vary from 10–100 mg/kg prior to sternotomy followed by a typical maintenance infusion of 1 mg·kg⁻¹·h⁻¹ for different time periods thereafter. However, the dosing regimen in Study I

36

exceeded the minimum recommended doses for prophylactic administration of TA in all patients [188], making it less likely that insufficient plasma concentrations of TA explain the negative findings in Study I.

We employed strict transfusion criteria in Study I, and found no differences in transfusion requirements when patients who received TA were compared with those who received placebo. Transfusion requirements were, however, secondary outcome measures, and the study was not powered to study any decrease in blood products used. Furthermore, transfusion requirements are not directly related to the effect of TA alone, since indications for transfusion are based on both subjective and objective measures. It is quite possible that simple changes in transfusion practices may lead to as much a reduction in the use of allogeneic blood products as any pharmacological strategy. Transfusion rates in Study I may have been reduced if indications for postoperative transfusion had been individualized.

The benefits of TA must be weighed against the risk of complications, because of the theoretical risk of thrombotic events occurring with the use of antifibrinolytic drugs. However, meta-analyses and other reviews found no evidence for increased risks of myocardial infarction, stroke, or venous thromboembolism following prophylactic use of TA [153,156,158]. Randomized studies on vein graft patency following prophylactic use of TA are scarce [189,190]. Administration of TA before CPB in a randomized study in 312 patients undergoing CABG did not compromise early venous graft patency rates [190]. No patients in Study I suffered from confirmed thrombo-embolic events within 30 days, but the study was not powered to evaluate such complications.

Transfusion variability in CABG

Because randomized studies comparing RBC transfusion with no transfusion were never conducted to evaluate the potential benefits of allogeneic blood transfusion, all transfusion algorithms and guidelines are based on the lowest level of evidence, i.e. expert opinion. Consequently, huge variations in transfusion practices in relation to CABG were described during the past two decades [1,13-16,191-193]. Study II showed that transfusion variability also exists among public centres performing cardiac surgery in Denmark. Considerable differences were seen among low-risk patients, even after adjusting for potential confounding factors. Several unnecessary RBC transfusions were administered in all the centres, reflecting the overall high transfusion rate in Denmark.

Methods for transfusion audits and the monitoring of transfusion practices using information technology and electronic registers are described [194-196]. These methods allow handling of large amounts of data. In Study II, we collected data manually from the patient records because the sample size was manageable, and because some clinical data, e.g. preoperative discontinuation of antiplatelet drugs, use of antifibrinolytic drugs, and information regarding the lowest perioperative haemoglobin concentration during CPB, were not available in existing databases.

Study II indicated that "hospital" was an independent predictor of allogeneic blood transfusion and this calls attention to the fact that transfusion practices need to be optimized.

Predictors of allogeneic red blood cell transfusion

Large amounts of blood are consumed by patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Patients undergoing CABG are estimated to consume 20% of the blood supply worldwide [1,197]. A high risk group of patients (10–20%) consume 80% of the RBC transfused during cardiac surgery [11,150]. Cardiothoracic surgery accounts for 5.5% of the RBC transfusions in England [198]. RBC transfusion rates of 29–64% were observed at Aalborg Hospital in the study populations investigated in Studies I–IV. Therefore, it is important to be aware of predictors of bleeding and transfusion in order to identify high-risk patients preoperatively, so the appropriate blood conservation techniques can be applied in these patients. Valid clinical tools to predict the need for blood transfusion in patients undergoing cardiac surgery were developed [48,199].

Study II showed "hospital" to be an independent predictor of allogeneic RBC transfusion in Denmark after adjusting for several confounders, supporting the hypothesis of the study. This is in accordance with findings in studies from abroad, because institution was found to be an independent predictor of transfusion in several other studies, even those with transfusion rates lower than in Denmark [191]. It is reasonable to assume that these differences are indicators of differences in traditions and norms, although differences in surgical techniques and the use of blood conservation techniques may also play a role.

New predictors of bleeding and transfusion may be identified. Study III investigated, for the first time in cardiac surgery, the potential association between preoperative intake of SSRI and transfusion requirements. Transfusion was used as a surrogate marker for bleeding. We expected to find increased transfusion rates following preoperative intake of SSRIs because SSRIs have an antiplatelet effect. However, the results of Study III did not support this hypothesis. A recent observational, multicenter study in 1,380 adults who received antidepressants before CABG in the USA is in agreement with these findings [200]. It is therefore reasonable to assume that the antiplatelet effect of SSRIs is too weak to play any significant clinical role in patients undergoing CABG with regard to bleeding and transfusion.

Study III adds important knowledge about the safety of SSRIs in patients undergoing CABG, which is of great value in relation to the well described association between depression and coronary artery disease [201,202]. Taking into account that depression was linked to an increased risk of poor outcome among patients with coronary artery disease [170, 203,204], the results of Study III do not support discontinuing ongoing SSRI treatment or other antidepressants prior to CABG. More studies are needed to investigate whether preoperative intake of SSRIs is associated with an increased risk of bleeding among subgroups of high-risk patients.

Severe infectious outcomes following allogeneic RBC transfusion

Surgeons and anaesthesiologists should be aware of the risk of adverse outcomes following transfusion, particularly when the benefit of allogeneic blood transfusion is uncertain. The results from Study IV showed an association between the transfusion of RBC units and the development of severe postoperative infection, in agreement with several previous studies in patients undergoing cardiac surgery [16, 104-107,115,116,118]. More interesting was the dose-dependent increased risk of developing severe postoperative infections following transfusion of RBC units stored for ≥ 14 days. This association was much weaker in patients transfused exclusively with RBC stored for <14 days.

A few studies indicated that storage time of allogeneic RBC may be an important determinant of transfusion-related postoperative morbidity and mortality during cardiac surgery, but substantial uncertainty remains since the available data are still sparse and inconsistent [108, 129-131]. The results of Study IV agree with results from a previous observational study in which 3,130 cardiac surgical patients were transfused exclusively with blood stored for >14 days, and 2,872 patients were transfused exclusively with blood stored for 14 days or less [108]. Multivariable logistic regression with propensity-score methods showed an increased risk of a composite of postoperative complications, including septicaemia following transfusion of RBC stored for >14 days.

Although Study IV and other observational studies may be criticised because of the inherent risks of residual confounding, results from observational studies are still the next best research design following randomized studies, and results from randomized trials are not yet published. The results of Study IV support the hypothesis of a possible association between RBC storage-time and development of severe infection, underlining the need for large, randomised, multicenter trials. Such studies are under way [206].

In general this thesis focused on allogeneic RBC transfusion during CABG, but other blood products, i.e. PLT and FFP, may also be associated with adverse outcomes including severe infections. However, the results in the literature are conflicting. Most studies suggest that transfusion with PLT and FFP does not confer an increased risk of morbidity or mortality [207-209].

Clinical implications of the studies

Although Study I did not show any statistically significant effects regarding reduction in postoperative bleeding among patients undergoing first-time elective CABG, a decision was made to administer TA to all patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the future based upon the results in the literature. At the same time, surgical haemostasis received increased attention because the results from

Study I showed excessive bleeding and a high re-exploration rate among low risk patients, even when TA was administered.

Studies II and III increased the general attention towards predictors of bleeding. Study II identified differences between hospitals regarding several perioperative characteristics related to blood conservation, e.g. discontinuing antiplatelet drugs preoperatively, differences in the use of off-pump techniques, and different uses of antifibrinolytic drugs. These finding specifically led to alterations in our daily clinical practice. Institution-specific guidelines regarding preoperative discontinuation of antiplatelet drugs (acetylsalicylic acid and clopidogrel) prior to CABG were elaborated (Table 7) based on the literature [210]. Because of the results of Study III, patients are allowed to continue preoperative SSRI and other antidepressant intake until the day of surgery.

Table 7. Algorithm for the preoperative intake and discontinuation of acetylsalicylic acid and clopidogrel prior to CABG.

Clinical situation	Algorithm proposed
Elective CABG; stable angina pectoris; low risk plaque	Discontinue acetylsalicylic acid and clopidogrel 5 days
morphology.	prior to surgery.
Elective CABG; stable angina pectoris; high-risk	Continue acetylsalicylic acid until surgery. Discontinue
plaque morphology, e.g. left main stenosis.	clopidogrel 5 days prior to surgery.
Urgent CABG; low-risk patient (no signs of ischemia in	Discontinue clopidogrel. Surgery is delayed 3–5 days if
ECG and negative troponin T).	possible. Continue acetylsalicylic acid and
	subcutaneous low-molecular-weight heparin until the
	evening before surgery.
Urgent CABG; high-risk patient (recurrent or ongoing	Acetylsalicylic acid and clopidogrel are continued until
ischemia in ECG, positive troponin T).	surgery.

CABG: coronary artery bypass grafting; ECG: electrocardiography

Furthermore, an increased focus is directed towards transfusion practises to avoid unnecessary transfusions. An algorithm for managing postoperative bleeding in relation to cardiac surgery was developed (Figure 3). This algorithm includes the use of thromboelastometry, which has now been introduced in the hospital.

Study IV increased the attention towards potentially adverse outcomes following allogeneic blood transfusion, supporting the effort to reduce transfusions. The results of Study IV should be confirmed in randomized studies before asking blood bank services to issue only blood stored for <14 days for CABG or other kinds of cardiac surgery, since this will have significant resource implications.





SVO2: Mixed venous oxygen saturation; ACT: Activated clotting time.

Strengths and limitations of the studies (I-IV)

Study I

The main strength of this study was the randomized, placebo-controlled study design. The study met most of the requirements in the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) statement [211,212], which is an evidence-based, minimum set of recommendations for reporting randomized controlled trials, although the study protocol and paper were admittedly not written with the CONSORT statement in mind. The patient eligibility criteria are stated and the settings and locations where the data were collected are described. Precise details regarding the study interventions intended for each group are provided together with information on how and when they were actually administered. The method used to implement the random allocation sequence is stated together with information that those administering TA/placebo and those assessing the results were blinded to the group assignment. The flow of all participants through the study is accounted for.

Although Study I was a randomized study, it also has some limitations. Optimally, the study protocol and the paper should have been written according to the CONSORT statement. A description of the power analysis should have been provided in the paper, explaining how the sample size was calculated. More patients should have been included in the study to compensate for non-evaluable patients.

Patients who were re-explored because of bleeding were excluded from the final analysis. Excluding these patients from the analysis may have led to erroneous conclusions, and it is a weakness of the study that an intention-to-treat analysis was not carried out. Intention-to-treat analyses may avoid bias associated with non-random loss of study participants.

Study II

The strength of Study II is the population-based, multicenter study design and the detailed data, which could not be retrieved from existing databases. Another strength was that the study focused on patients who, in principle, should be comparable within a small country.

Limitations include the retrospective study design, which resulted in missing data for some study variables. It is also a limitation that whether surgery was carried out as elective, emergent, or urgent procedure was not recorded, because non-elective surgery is a predictor of bleeding and transfusion. However, there is no reason to believe that the proportion of patients requiring non-elective surgery differed substantially between the centres. Other confounders which were not adjusted for may, at least in theory, also have influenced the results; e.g. predictors of bleeding such as a diagnosis of diabetes, peripheral arteriosclerotic disease, and surgical skills. Restriction to first-time CABG may have been done at the expense of the generalisability of the study, since this cohort of patients may not be representative of other patient groups with a higher risk of bleeding.

Study III.

The strengths of Study III include the relatively large sample size, the use of prospectively-collected data obtained from population-based databases with complete follow-up, and the ability to study specific types of antidepressants.

However, Study III also has several limitations. Firstly, it was an observational study and as such susceptible to confounding. Although we controlled for a number of potentially important confounding factors, other factors not controlled for in the analyses may also have acted as confounding factors, e.g. use of prophylactic antifibrinolytic drugs. There was also a lack of data regarding patient's compliance in taking the antidepressants and a lack of information about the duration of any preoperative intake of these drugs. In addition, no strict transfusion algorithms were used. This study should also be interpreted carefully with regard to the risk of postoperative bleeding in relation to preoperative intake of SSRIs, because transfusion may be an imperfect surrogate marker for bleeding.

Study IV

The major strength of this study was the population-based study design including all patients undergoing CABG in two regions of Denmark, the use of prospectively-collected, detailed data, the complete follow-up, and the relatively large sample size with the advantage of being able to study infrequent outcomes such as severe infections. It is also a strength that Study IV only focused on severe infections because other kinds of postoperative infections may be difficult to identify in observational studies. Information regarding superficial postoperative wound infections may be incomplete. The predictive value of a correctly applied diagnosis of wound infection was only 78% in a previous study from Aalborg hospital, but a complete registration of all deep wound infections was observed during the study period [213]. The risk of misclassification of deep sternal wound infections in Study IV is assumed to be low because all patients with deep sternal wound infections are returned to either Skejby or Aalborg hospital for further surgical treatment in contrast with superficial sternal wound infections, which can be handled at local hospitals.

We could link several databases, retrieving information on a wide range of covariates, to adjust for several potential confounders not accounted for in previous studies, e.g. the Charlsons comorbidity index score. Furthermore, we were able to adjust for the number of transfused PLT units as well as for major and minor ABO-incompatible PTL transfusions. This is a strength because ABO incompatibility in PLT transfusions was associated with immune complex formation and increased morbidity including bleeding and infection after cardiac surgery [214-216].

Considering the storage time of RBC and PLTs transfused, it is important to recognise that storage times of the blood may be driven by ABO blood group type, since group O tends to have the shortest shelf time [217]. The probability of receiving blood stored for <14 days is not normally distributed according to ABO blood groups. It is therefore a strength of Study IV that ORs for development of severe infection according to storage time were adjusted for ABO blood groups. It would have been interesting to perform stratified analyses according to ABO blood groups, but the number of severe infections in each of the transfused ABO subgroups was too small to allow any meaningful evaluation of these results.

Study IV also has some limitations, which should be kept in mind when interpreting the results. Cohort studies cannot provide evidence for a cause-effect relationship, but dose-response relationships and biological plausibility, e.g. storage lesions, are elements supportive of this. Residual confounding may be present, although we were able to adjust for several potential confounding factors. Transfused patients may be more ill and thus more susceptible to infections compared with non-transfused patients.

The results from this thesis are generalisable to some extent. The concept of a multimodal approach toward blood conservation can be applied at all centres, but the external validity from the individual studies may be affected by different patient populations and differences regarding the use of blood conservation techniques, including transfusion practices. Furthermore, the blood products used may differ. The results from Study IV may not be applicable to centres in which pre-storage WBC filtration of RBC units is performed because buffy-coat-reduced RBC units were mainly transfused in Study IV. In addition, transfusion of pooled units of random-donor, whole blood-derived PTL concentrates were predominantly performed. Apheresis PTLs, which are derived from a single donor, was very seldom used (<1.5 %).

Conclusions

This PhD thesis presents an example of a multimodal approach to blood conservation during cardiac surgery. Four separate studies identified new and institution-specific information focused on transfusion variability in Denmark, predictors of bleeding, outcome following transfusion, and outcome following use of prophylactic antifibrinolytic therapy.

The main findings of the four studies are as follows below. Firstly, prophylactic TA reduced postoperative bleeding but the results did not reach statistical significance, and the proportion of patients transfused was not decreased. The findings may represent a type 2 error due to the small sample size, but inadequate surgical haemostasis may also play a role because the reoperation rate due to bleeding was high (15%). These results support the need for a multimodal approach to blood conservation. Secondly, transfusion practices vary in Denmark with regards to first-time CABG and place of surgery is an independent predictor of allogeneic RBC transfusion. The RR of receiving allogeneic RBC was approximately twice as high in Aalborg Hospital compared with the hospital with the lowest transfusion

rate. Several unnecessary RBC transfusions were administered. Thirdly, preoperative intake of SSRIs, which have an antiplatelet effect, is not associated with any substantial increase in transfusion requirements during CABG. Finally, transfusion of RBC units stored for \geq 14 days are associated with a dose-dependent 2.5-fold increased risk of developing severe postoperative infections in patients undergoing CABG compared with non-transfused patients.

The results of this thesis support a multimodal approach to blood conservation in CABG and the findings are now part of the continuing multimodal efforts to optimize transfusion practices and systematic use of blood conservation techniques in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aalborg Hospital. Potential adverse outcomes following transfusion were highlighted, but before any changes are made regarding transfusion of blood according to storage time the results from randomized trials should be obtained.

Further research in this complex research field is needed to restrict allogeneic blood transfusions to those patients who really need it.

Future directions

Optimizing transfusion practices and use of blood-sparing techniques in cardiac surgery is an ongoing process. Any decision to transfuse allogeneic RBC should be based upon an individual evaluation of each patient with respect to the rate of blood loss, haemoglobin or haematocrit values, hemodynamic variables, symptoms, age, perioperative complications, and concomitant diseases. The decision to transfuse a specific patient should only be made after balancing the potential benefits with the risk of adverse outcomes.

Increased attention to these aspects was raised in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aalborg Hospital, including applying the systematic use of antifibrinolytic drugs and using institutional guidelines regarding preoperative intake of antiplatelet drugs. Further interventions introduced were educational efforts, audit with feed-back, reminders, and the introduction of a new hospital form outlining transfusion guidelines. It would be of great interest to evaluate the impact of these changes. Several studies showed that behavioral interventions are effective in changing transfusion practices [41], but short-term results may be biased by the Hawthorne effects (an initial improvement in performance because of the act of observing the performance). Information on the long-term effects of the interventions is needed. A study using the before-and-after study design [218] was initiated in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aalborg Hospital, with the objective of evaluating the attempts to decrease allogeneic blood usage during CABG. A total of 150 records from patients who underwent CABG in 2008 are being reviewed with the intention of comparing the results with the findings from the audit performed in 2004 (Study II). Preliminary results are shown in Table 8. The median total postoperative blood loss was decreased from 950 ml to 819 ml. The proportion of patients transfused with RBC was decreased from 64% to 48%, although postoperative direct reinfusion of shed mediastinal blood from the postoperative chest tube drainage was abandoned. We abandoned autotransfusion of unwashed mediastinal blood in accordance with published recommendations based on the risks associated with this technique, and the lack of clear-cut benefits [11]. The proportion of patients discharged with a

48

haemoglobin >7 mmol/l (over-transfusion) was reduced from 36% to 9%. A preliminary conclusion would be that the efforts to change transfusion behaviors are working.

2004 n = 141	2008 n = 147
560 (373-818)	460 (380–550)
950 (685–1298)	722 (525–975)
64%	48%
39%	31%
28%	34%
72%	6%
36%	9%
	2004 n = 141 560 (373-818) 950 (685-1298) 64% 39% 28% 72% 36%

Table 8. Postoperative blood loss and transfusion requirements in patients undergoing first-time coronary artery bypass grafting in 2004 and 2008.

Data on chest tube drainage are presented as the median and with the interquartile range; RBC, red blood cells.

Introduction of transfusion algorithms in other cardiac centers was done with varying success [219] and evaluation of the new transfusion algorithm (Figure 3), which includes point-of-care tests would be of great interest in optimizing the algorithm further.

Further studies should also be performed in relation to the observed associations between allogeneic RBC blood transfusion and increased morbidity and mortality from cardiac surgery. We are in the process of evaluating our study database from Study IV to investigate whether transfusion of RBC stored ≥14 days is associated with increased mortality. However, we also need well-conducted, adequately-powered, randomized studies. Studies using pre-storage WBC-filtered RBC units and PLT would be preferred because these kinds of blood products are used in an increasing number of countries. Pre-storage WBC-reduced blood products will also be used in the Northern Denmark region beginning in 2010. High-risk

patients should at best be randomized to receive exclusively either extremely old blood (storage time >30 days) or extremely fresh blood (storage time <7 days) because these extremes would be expected to send a clear message regarding the clinical impact of storage time.

Randomized studies should also be performed to compare different transfusion thresholds with respect to clinical outcomes to increase the level of strength on which recommendations in the transfusion guidelines are based.

Allogeneic RBC transfusions are given with the intent of enhancing the oxygen-carrying capacity of the blood, but there is no clear evidence supporting the view that the non-bleeding, stable patient will benefit from transfusion with RBC during cardiac surgery. However, because patients grew up with the basic principle that blood saves lives, we will probably never be able to perform the ultimate study for ethical reasons, i.e. comparing blood transfusion with other kinds of therapy.

Summary in English

Allogeneic blood transfusion (blood transfusion from a genetically different person) has always been an integral part of cardiac surgery, but transfusion is associated with adverse clinical outcomes in cardiac surgery and a great deal of variability exists nationally and internationally regarding transfusion. The general purpose of this PhD thesis was to perform four independent but related research studies, which in total will serve as an example of a multimodal approach to blood conservation in coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). A multimodal approach is important because bleeding during cardiac surgery is multifactorial. The goal was to produce new and institution-specific information that will contribute to the pool of knowledge upon which future transfusion and blood conservation algorithms during cardiac surgery can be based. The work evolved as a part of the continuing efforts to optimize the use of bloodsparing techniques, including transfusion practices in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital.

The particular aims of the individual studies were (1) to determine whether perioperative use of prophylactic tranexamic acid (TA) would decrease chest tube drainage and the proportion of patients requiring perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion in primary elective on-pump CABG; (2) to audit transfusion practices in Denmark in patients undergoing first-time CABG at different hospitals; (3) to determine whether transfusion requirements are increased in patients undergoing CABG following preoperative use of platelet-inhibiting selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs); and (4) to examine whether the storage-time of allogeneic red blood cells (RBC) is associated with the development of severe postoperative infections (deep sternal wound infections and bacteraemia/septicaemia) in patients undergoing CABG.

Several other aspects regarding perioperative blood transfusion and blood conservation in CABG could have been undertaken in relation to this thesis. The studies included were initiated because of ongoing clinical challenges and new questions that arose at the time the studies were commenced.

A randomized trial and three observational studies based on detailed data from medical records, hospital discharge registries, and linkage between several clinical databases and population-based registries were performed. The following results were found in these studies: (1) prophylactic TA reduced postoperative bleeding, as was found in most other studies, but the results were not statistically significant. The proportion of patients transfused was not decreased. Inadequate surgical haemostasis may play a role in this outcome because the reoperation rate due to bleeding was high (15%). These results support the need for a multimodal approach to blood conservation; (2) transfusion practices vary in Denmark and "hospital" was an independent predictor of allogeneic RBC transfusion. The adjusted relative risk of being exposed to RBC transfusion is approximately twice as high in Aalborg Hospital compared with the hospital with the lowest transfusion rate. Several unnecessary transfusions of RBC were administered; (3) preoperative intake of SSRIs is not associated with any substantial increase in transfusion requirements in CABG; and (4) transfusion of RBC units stored for ≥ 14 days is associated with a dose-dependent 2.5 fold increased risk of severe infections in patients undergoing CABG compared with non-transfused patients. This association was much weaker among patients transfused exclusively with RBC stored for <14 days.

In conclusion, the four separate studies included in this thesis provide new and institution-specific information regarding transfusion variability in Denmark, predictors of bleeding and transfusion, outcome following transfusion, and prophylactic use of antifibrinolytic therapy. These findings are now part of the continuing multimodal and multidisciplinary efforts to optimize transfusion practices and blood conservation in our department.

The results in this thesis can only be generalized to certain extent. The concept of a multimodal approach to blood conservation can be applied to all other centres, but the external validity of the individual studies may be affected by differences in patient populations, differences in blood products used, and differences regarding the ongoing use of blood conservation techniques including transfusion practices.

Further research is needed in this complex research field to restrict allogeneic blood transfusion to only those patients who really need it.

52

Summary in Danish/Dansk resumé

Allogen blodtransfusion (transfusion fra et genetisk forskelligt menneske) har altid været en integreret del af hjertekirurgien, men transfusion er associeret med øget morbiditet og mortalitet efter hjertekirurgi og der er stor variation i transfusionspraksis nationalt og internationalt.

Det overordnede formål med afhandlingen var at gennemføre fire selvstændige men relaterede forskningsprojekter, som i sammenhæng fremstår som et eksempel på en multimodal tilgang til anvendelsen af blodbesparende foranstaltninger i forbindelse koronar bypass kirurgi (CABG). En multimodal tilgang til at reducere blodforbruget er vigtig fordi blødning efter hjertekirurgi er multifaktorielt betinget. Målet var at skabe ny og institutionsspecifik viden, som kan indgå i den samlede baggrundsviden som fremover vil være basis for udvikling af kliniske retningslinier med henblik på at reducere blødning og transfusion i forbindelse med hjertekirurgi.

Denne ph.d. afhandling blev skabt som led i det løbende kliniske arbejde med at optimere transfusionspraksis og brugen af andre blodbesparende foranstaltninger i forbindelse med hjertekirurgi i Hjerte-Lunge kirurgisk afdeling på Aalborg Sygehus, Aarhus Universitetshospital.

Formålet med de enkelte studier var 1) at undersøge om profylaktisk infusion af tranexamsyre (TA) reducerer postoperativ blødning via thoraxdrænene, og om andelen af patienter som får behov for blodtransfusion reduceres blandt patienter, som gennemgår en førstegangs, elektiv CABG med anvendelse af hjerte-lungemaskine. 2) at gennemføre en transfusionsaudit i Danmark med henblik på at sammenligne transfusionspraksis blandt førstegangs CABG patienter i forskelle afdelinger, 3) at undersøge om præoperativ indtagelse af trombocythæmmende selective serotoningenoptagshæmmere (SSRI) øger transfusionsbehovet hos CABG patienter og 4) at undersøge om blodets lagringstid i blodbanken er associeret med udvikling af svære postoperative infektioner i form af dyb sternum infektion, bakteriæmi eller sepsis efter CABG.

Forskellige andre blodbesparende foranstaltninger kunne have været undersøgt som led i denne ph.d. afhandling. De inkluderede studier blev iværksat på baggrund af aktuelle kliniske udfordringer og nye spørgsmål i klinikken på det tidspunkt undersøgelserne blev gennemført. Der blev gennemført et randomiseret klinisk studie og tre observationelle studier baseret på en kobling af data fra patientjournaler og forskellige populationsbaserede registre og kliniske databaser. Følgende resultater fremkom 1) Profylaktisk anvendelse af TA reducerede den postoperative blødning via drænene som i de fleste andre studier, men reduktionen i forhold til placebo var ikke statistisk significant. Andelen af patienter som blev transfunderet blev ikke reduceret. Resultatet kan være betinget af en utilstrækkelig kirurgisk hæmostase i studieperioden, da andelen af patienter, som blev reopereret for blødning, var høj (15%). Resultaterne peger på nødvendigheden af en multimodal tilgang til anvendelsen af blodbesparende foranstaltninger 2) Transfusionspraksis varierer i Danmark og "operationssted" er en uafhængig predictor for erytrocyt transfusion. Den justerede relative risiko for at modtage en transfusion er cirka dobbelt så høj i Aalborg, som på det sygehus, hvor transfusionsraten var lavest. Der gives flere unødvendige transfusioner. 3) Præoperative indtagelse af SSRI er ikke associeret med nogen væsentlig øget risiko for transfusion i forbindelse med CABG. 4) Transfusion med erytrocytter lagret ≥14 dage er associeret med en dosisafhængig 2,5 fold øget risiko for udvikling af svære postoperative infektioner sammenlignet med patienter der ikke modtager transfusion. Sammenhængen er betydelig svagere ved transfusion med erytrocytter lagret <14 dage.

Disse fire enkeltstående undersøgelser bidrager med ny og institutions specifik viden hvad angår transfusion variabilitet i Danmark, prædiktorer for blødning og transfusion, risiko ved transfusion og effekten af profylaktisk antifibrinolytisk behandling. Resultaterne indgår nu i de løbende multimodale bestræbelser på at optimere transfusionspraksis og anvendelsen af andre blodbesparende foranstaltninger i Hjerte-Lungekirurgisk afdeling på Aalborg Sygehus, Aarhus Universitetshospital.

Resultaterne fra denne ph.d. afhandling er kun generaliserbare til en hvis grad. Den multimodale tilgang kan anvendes i alle afdelinger, men den eksterne validitet af de forskellige studier kan påvirkes af eventuelt forskellige patientpopulationer, anvendelse af forskellige blodprodukter og samtidig anvendelse af andre blodbesparende foranstaltninger.

Der er brug for flere undersøgelser indenfor dette komplekse forskningsområde for at begrænse transfusion med fremmed blod til de patienter, der virkelig har gavn af behandlingen.

54

References

- 1. Snyder-Ramos SA, Mohnle P, Weng YS et al. The ongoing variability in blood transfusion practices in cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2008.
- 2. Kildemoes HW, Hanehøj K, Kruse M et al. Dansk Hjerteregister Årsberetning 2008.
- Spiess BD. Transfusion of blood products affects outcome in cardiac surgery. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2004;8:267-81.
- Goodnough LT, Johnston MF, Ramsey G et al. Guidelines for transfusion support in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Transfusion Practices Committee of the American Association of Blood Banks.Ann Thorac Surg 1990;50:675-83.
- 5. Practice strategies for elective red blood cell transfusion. American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 1992;116:403-6.
- Simon TL, Alverson DC, AuBuchon J et al. Practice parameter for the use of red blood cell transfusions: developed by the Red Blood Cell Administration Practice Guideline Development Task Force of the College of American Pathologists. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1998;122:130-8.
- Murphy MF, Wallington TB, Kelsey P et al. Guidelines for the clinical use of red cell transfusions. Br J Haematol 2001;113:24-31.
- Goodnough LT, Despotis GJ. Transfusion medicine: support of patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2001;1:337-51.
- 9. Hill SR, Carless PA, Henry DA et al. Transfusion thresholds and other strategies for guiding allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2002;(2):CD002042.
- 10. American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Perioperative Blood Transfusion and Adjuvant Therapies. Practice guidelines for perioperative blood transfusion and adjuvant therapies: an updated report
- by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Perioperative Blood Transfusion and Adjuvant Therapies. Anesthesiology 2006;105:198-208.
- Society of Thoracic Surgeons Blood Conservation Guideline Task Force, Ferraris VA, Ferraris SP et al. Perioperative blood transfusion and blood conservation in cardiac surgery: the Society of Thoracic Surgeons and The Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists clinical practice guideline. Ann Thorac Surg 2007;83:S27-86.
- 12. Sundhedsstyrelsen. Vejledning om blodtransfusion. 2007.
- Stover EP, Siegel LC, Parks R et al. Variability in transfusion practice for coronary artery bypass surgery persists despite national consensus guidelines: a 24-institution study. Institutions of the Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. Anesthesiology 1998;88:327-33.

- Ranucci, M. and the European Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesiologists (EACTA). Perioperative haemostasis and coagulation management in cardiac surgery: a European survey. 2007;24 (Suppl 40):1-13.
- 15. Schiferer A, Panzer S, Reesink HW et al. Red cell transfusion in elective cardiac surgery patients. Vox Sang 2009;97:172-82.
- 16. Rogers MA, Blumberg N, Saint S et al. Hospital variation in transfusion and infection after cardiac surgery: a cohort study. BMC Med 2009;7:37.
- 17. Ranucci M, Castelvecchio S, Romitti F et al. Living without aprotinin: the results of a 5-year blood saving program in cardiac surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2009;53:573-80.
- 18. Maluf NSR. History of blood transfusion. J History Med 1954;9:59-107.
- 19. Lindeboom GA. The story of a blood transfusion to a Pope. J Hist Med Allied Sci 1954;9:455-9.
- 20. Lower R. The method observed in transfusing the blood out of one animal into another. Philos Trans 1666;2:353-8.
- 21. Denis J. A letter concerning a new way of curing sundry diseases by transfusion of blood. Philos Trans 1667;27:489-503.
- 22. Lower R. An account of the experiment of transfusion, practiced upon a man in London. Philos Trans 1667;2:557-64.
- 23. Dzik WH. The James Blundell Award Lecture 2006: transfusion and the treatment of haemorrhage: past, present and future. Transfus Med 2007;17:367-74.
- 24. Blundell J. Experiments on the transfusion of blood by the syringe. Medicochir Transactions 1818;IX:56-92.
- 25. Blundell J. Successful case of transfusion. Lancet 1828;II:431-2.
- 26. Freisleben E. Blodtransfusionens historie i Danmark 1848-1987. København: Dansk Selskab for Klinisk Immunologi. 1995.
- 27. Landsteiner K. Über agglutinationserscheinungen normalen menschlichen blutes. Wien Klein Wochenschr 1901,14:1132-34.
- 28. Gibbon JH, Jr. Application of a mechanical heart and lung apparatus to cardiac surgery. Minn Med 1954;37:171,85.
- 29. Klein HG, Spahn DR, Carson JL. Red blood cell transfusion in clinical practice. Lancet 2007;370:415-26.
- 30. Stroncek DF, Rebulla P. Platelet transfusions. Lancet 2007;370:427-38.
- 31. Key NS, Negrier C. Coagulation factor concentrates: past, present, and future. Lancet 2007;370:439-48.
- 32. Kristensen T, Jerslid C, Kristensen K et al. Use of blood products in Denmark in 1993. Regional differences and comparison with other Scandinavian and European countries. Ugeskr Laeger 1995;157:3883-7.

- Use of blood products for elective surgery in 43 European hospitals. The Sanguis Study Group. Transfus Med 1994;4:251-68.
- 34. van der Poel CL, Janssen MP. The collection, testing and use of blood and blood products in Europe i 2003.2005.
- Kamper-Jorgensen M, Edgren G, Rostgaard K et al. Blood transfusion exposure in Denmark and Sweden. Transfusion 2009;49:888-94.
- Johansson PI, Titlestad K, Møller BK et al. Overtransfusion--a bad Danish habit with serious consequences. Ugeskr Laeger 2009;171:1072.
- Dansk Selskab for Klinisk Immunologi. Dansk Transfusionsdatabase. Årsrapport 2009 (Data fra 2007 og 2008).
- 38. Legare JF, Buth KJ, King S et al. Coronary bypass surgery performed off pump does not result in lower inhospital morbidity than coronary artery bypass grafting performed on pump. Circulation 2004;109:887-92.
- 39. Toy PT. Effectiveness of transfusion audits and practice guidelines. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1994;118:435-7.
- 40. Højlund K, Andersen LI, Huttel MS et al. Rational transfusion therapy. A study of transfusion practice and possibilities of optimization in elective coronary bypass surgery. Ugeskr Laeger 1996;158:7237-40.
- 41. Tinmouth A, Macdougall L, Fergusson D et al. Reducing the amount of blood transfused: a systematic review of behavioral interventions to change physicians' transfusion practices. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:845-52.
- 42. Khanna MP, Hebert PC, Fergusson DA. Review of the clinical practice literature on patient characteristics associated with perioperative allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. Transfus Med Rev 2003;17:110-9.
- 43. Cosgrove DM, Loop FD, Lytle BW et al. Determinants of blood utilization during myocardial revascularization. Ann Thorac Surg 1985;40:380-4.
- 44. Ferraris VA, Gildengorin V. Predictors of excessive blood use after coronary artery bypass grafting. A multivariate analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1989;98:492-7.
- 45. Magovern JA, Sakert T, Benckart DH et al. A model for predicting transfusion after coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Thorac Surg 1996;61:27-32.
- 46. Gammie JS, Zenati M, Kormos RL et al. Abciximab and excessive bleeding in patients undergoing emergency cardiac operations. Ann Thorac Surg 1998;65:465-9.
- 47. Shevde K, Pagala M, Kashikar A et al. Gender is an essential determinant of blood transfusion in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft procedure. J Clin Anesth 2000;12:109-16.
- Karkouti K, Cohen MM, McCluskey SA et al. A multivariable model for predicting the need for blood transfusion in patients undergoing first-time elective coronary bypass graft surgery. Transfusion 2001;41:1193-203.

- 49. Ferraris VA, Ferraris SP, Joseph O et al. Aspirin and postoperative bleeding after coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Surg 2002;235:820-7.
- 50. Parr KG, Patel MA, Dekker R et al. Multivariate predictors of blood product use in cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2003;17:176-81.
- 51. Litmathe J, Boeken U, Feindt P et al. Predictors of homologous blood transfusion for patients undergoing open heart surgery. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;51:17-21.
- 52. Scott BH, Seifert FC, Glass PS et al. Blood use in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: impact of cardiopulmonary bypass pump, hematocrit, gender, age, and body weight. Anesth Analg 2003;97:958-63.
- 53. Arora RC, Legare JF, Buth KJ et al. Identifying patients at risk of intraoperative and postoperative transfusion in isolated CABG: toward selective conservation strategies. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;78:1547-54.
- 54. Dial S, Delabays E, Albert M et al. Hemodilution and surgical hemostasis contribute significantly to transfusion requirements in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;130:654-61.
- 55. Karkouti K, O'Farrell R, Yau TM et al. Prediction of massive blood transfusion in cardiac surgery. Can J Anaesth 2006;53:781-94.
- 56. Pickard AS, Becker RC, Schumock GT et al. Clopidogrel-associated bleeding and related complications in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Pharmacotherapy 2008;28:376-92.
- 57. Ranucci M, Castelvecchio S, Frigiola A et al. Predicting transfusions in cardiac surgery: the easier, the better: the Transfusion Risk and Clinical Knowledge score. Vox Sang 2009;96:324-32.
- 58. Yusuf S, Zhao F, Mehta SR et al. Effects of clopidogrel in addition to aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndromes without ST-segment elevation. N Engl J Med 2001;345:494-502.
- A randomised, blinded, trial of clopidogrel versus aspirin in patients at risk of ischaemic events (CAPRIE).
 CAPRIE Steering Committee. Lancet 1996;348:1329-39.
- 60. Steinhubl SR, Berger PB, Mann JT,3rd et al. Early and sustained dual oral antiplatelet therapy following percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002;288:2411-20.
- Mehta SR, Yusuf S, Peters RJ et al. Effects of pretreatment with clopidogrel and aspirin followed by longterm therapy in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the PCI-CURE study. Lancet 2001;358:527-33.
- 62. Keller TT, Squizzato A, Middeldorp S. Clopidogrel plus aspirin versus aspirin alone for preventing cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;(3):CD005158.

- 63. Ferraris VA, Ferraris SP, Moliterno DJ et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons practice guideline series: aspirin and other antiplatelet agents during operative coronary revascularization (executive summary). Ann Thorac Surg 2005;79:1454-61.
- 64. Dunning J, Versteegh M, Fabbri A et al. Guideline on antiplatelet and anticoagulation management in cardiac surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008;34:73-92.
- 65. Pollack CV,Jr, Braunwald E. 2007 update to the ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with unstable angina and non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: implications for emergency department practice. Ann Emerg Med 2008;51:591-606.
- 66. Rajagopalan S, Mascha E, Na J et al. The effects of mild perioperative hypothermia on blood loss and transfusion requirement. Anesthesiology 2008;108:71-7.
- 67. Raja SG, Dreyfus GD. Impact of off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery on postoperative bleeding: current best available evidence. J Card Surg 2006;21:35,41; discussion 42-3.
- 68. Moskowitz DM, Klein JJ, Shander A et al. Predictors of transfusion requirements for cardiac surgical procedures at a blood conservation center. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;77:626-34.
- Nuttall GA, Erchul DT, Haight TJ et al. A comparison of bleeding and transfusion in patients who undergo coronary artery bypass grafting via sternotomy with and without cardiopulmonary bypass. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2003;17:447-51.
- 70. Knutson JE, Deering JA, Hall FW et al. Does intraoperative hetastarch administration increase blood loss and transfusion requirements after cardiac surgery? Anesth Analg 2000;90:801-7.
- 71. Vedin J, Antovic A, Ericsson A et al. Hemostasis in off-pump compared to on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting: a prospective, randomized study. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;80:586-93.
- 72. Liu B, Belboul A, Larsson S et al. Factors influencing haemostasis and blood transfusion in cardiac surgery. Perfusion 1996;11:131-43.
- Frankel TL, Stamou SC, Lowery RC et al. Risk factors for hemorrhage-related reexploration and blood transfusion after conventional versus coronary revascularization without cardiopulmonary bypass. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:494-500.
- 74. Hebert PC, Wells G, Blajchman MA et al. A multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical trial of transfusion requirements in critical care. Transfusion Requirements in Critical Care Investigators, Canadian Critical Care Trials Group. N Engl J Med 1999;340:409-17.
- 75. Hebert PC, Yetisir E, Martin C et al. Is a low transfusion threshold safe in critically ill patients with cardiovascular diseases? Crit Care Med 2001;29:227-34.
- 76. Bracey AW, Radovancevic R, Riggs SA et al. Lowering the hemoglobin threshold for transfusion in coronary artery bypass procedures: effect on patient outcome. Transfusion 1999;39:1070-7.

- 77. Johnson RG, Thurer RL, Kruskall MS et al. Comparison of two transfusion strategies after elective operations for myocardial revascularization. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1992;104:307-14.
- 78. DeFoe GR, Ross CS, Olmstead EM et al. Lowest hematocrit on bypass and adverse outcomes associated with coronary artery bypass grafting. Northern New England Cardiovascular Disease Study Group. Ann Thorac Surg 2001;71:769-76.
- Hardy JF, Martineau R, Couturier A et al. Influence of haemoglobin concentration after extracorporeal circulation on mortality and morbidity in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth 1998;81 Suppl 1:38-45.
- 80. Fang WC, Helm RE, Krieger KH et al. Impact of minimum hematocrit during cardiopulmonary bypass on mortality in patients undergoing coronary artery surgery. Circulation 1997;96:II,194-9.
- 81. Groom RC. High or low hematocrits during cardiopulmonary bypass for patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery? An evidence-based approach to the question. Perfusion 2001;16:339-43.
- 82. Consensus conference. Perioperative red blood cell transfusion. JAMA 1988;260:2700-3.
- Viele MK, Weiskopf RB. What can we learn about the need for transfusion from patients who refuse blood? The experience with Jehovah's Witnesses. Transfusion 1994;34:396-401.
- Practice Guidelines for blood component therapy: A report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Blood Component Therapy. Anesthesiology 1996;84:732-47.
- 85. Platelet transfusion therapy. Lancet 1987;2:490-1.
- 86. Consensus conference. Fresh-frozen plasma. Indications and risks. JAMA 1985;253:551-3.
- 87. Goodnough LT, Despotis GJ. Establishing practice guidelines for surgical blood management. Am J Surg 1995;170:16S-20S.
- Goodnough LT, Despotis GJ, Hogue CW, Jr et al. On the need for improved transfusion indicators in cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:473-80.
- 89. Despotis GJ, Skubas NJ, Goodnough LT. Optimal management of bleeding and transfusion in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999;11:84-104.
- 90. Blajchman MA, Hebert PC. Red blood cell transfusion strategies. Transfus Clin Biol 2001;8:207-10.
- 91. Hajjar LA, Auler Junior JO, Santos L et al. Blood tranfusion in critically ill patients: state of the art. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2007;62:507-24.
- 92. Goodnough LT. Risks of blood transfusion. Crit Care Med 2003;31:S678-86.
- 93. Spiess BD. Risks of transfusion: outcome focus. Transfusion 2004;44:4S-14S.
- 94. Despotis G, Eby C, Lublin DM. A review of transfusion risks and optimal management of perioperative bleeding with cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2008;48:2S-30S.

- 95. Dickmeiss E, Christiansen AH, Smith E. Risk of disease transmission via donor blood in Denmark at the turn of the century. Ugeskr Laeger 2001;163:2628-32.
- 96. Koch C, Li L, Figueroa P et al. Transfusion and pulmonary morbidity after cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2009;88:1410-8.
- 97. Improving blood safety worldwide. Lancet 2007;370:361.
- 98. Jørgensen J, Taaning E. DART- a voluntary system for hemovigilance in Denmark. TATM 2003;5:260-4.
- 99. Taaning EM, Sørensen B, Riisom K. DART. Årsrapport 2008. Dansk Selskab for klinisk Immunologi http://www.haemovigilance.dk/pdf/DART_2008.pdf, assessed december 2009.
- 100. Michalopoulos A, Tzelepis G, Dafni U et al. Determinants of hospital mortality after coronary artery bypass grafting. Chest 1999;115:1598-603.
- Engoren MC, Habib RH, Zacharias A et al. Effect of blood transfusion on long-term survival after cardiac operation. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;74:1180-6.
- 102. Kuduvalli M, Oo AY, Newall N et al. Effect of peri-operative red blood cell transfusion on 30-day and 1year mortality following coronary artery bypass surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:592-8.
- 103. Rogers MA, Blumberg N, Saint SK et al. Allogeneic blood transfusions explain increased mortality in women after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Am Heart J 2006;152:1028-34.
- 104. Koch CG, Li L, Duncan AI et al. Morbidity and mortality risk associated with red blood cell and bloodcomponent transfusion in isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. Crit Care Med 2006;34:1608-16.
- 105. Koch CG, Li L, Duncan AI et al. Transfusion in coronary artery bypass grafting is associated with reduced long-term survival. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;81:1650-7.
- 106. Murphy GJ, Reeves BC, Rogers CA et al. Increased mortality, postoperative morbidity, and cost after red blood cell transfusion in patients having cardiac surgery. Circulation 2007;116:2544-52.
- 107. Scott BH, Seifert FC, Grimson R. Blood transfusion is associated with increased resource utilisation, morbidity and mortality in cardiac surgery. Ann Card Anaesth 2008;11:15-9.
- Koch CG, Li L, Sessler DI et al. Duration of red-cell storage and complications after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2008;358:1229-39.
- 109. Engoren M, Habib RH, Hadaway J et al. The effect on long-term survival of erythrocyte transfusion given for cardiac valve operations. Ann Thorac Surg 2009;88:95,100, 100.e1-3.
- 110. Johnston P, Wynn-Jones H, Chakravarty D et al. Is perioperative blood transfusion a risk factor for mortality or infection after hip fracture? J Orthop Trauma 2006;20:675-9.
- 111. Engoren M, Mitchell E, Perring P et al. The effect of erythrocyte blood transfusions on survival after surgery for hip fracture. J Trauma 2008;65:1411-5.

- 112. Engoren M, Arslanian-Engoren C. Long-term survival in the intensive care unit after erythrocyte blood transfusion. Am J Crit Care 2009;18:124,31; quiz 132.
- Ali ZA, Lim E, Motalleb-Zadeh R et al. Allogenic blood transfusion does not predispose to infection after cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;78:1542-6.
- Michalopoulos A, Stavridis G, Geroulanos S. Severe sepsis in cardiac surgical patients. Eur J Surg 1998;164:217-22.
- 115. Leal-Noval SR, Rincon-Ferrari MD, Garcia-Curiel A et al. Transfusion of blood components and postoperative infection in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Chest 2001;119:1461-8.
- 116. Chelemer SB, Prato BS, Cox PM,Jr et al. Association of bacterial infection and red blood cell transfusion after coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;73:138-42.
- 117. Koch CG, Khandwala F, Li L et al. Persistent effect of red cell transfusion on health-related quality of life after cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:13-20.
- Banbury MK, Brizzio ME, Rajeswaran J et al. Transfusion increases the risk of postoperative infection after cardiovascular surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2006;202:131-8.
- Koch CG, Li L, Van Wagoner DR et al. Red cell transfusion is associated with an increased risk for postoperative atrial fibrillation. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:1747-56.
- 120. Rogers MA, Blumberg N, Heal JM et al. Increased risk of infection and mortality in women after cardiac surgery related to allogeneic blood transfusion. J Womens Health 2007;16:1412-20.
- 121. Whitson BA, Huddleston SJ, Savik K et al. Bloodless cardiac surgery is associated with decreased morbidity and mortality. J Card Surg 2007;22:373-8.
- 122. Shander A, Spence RK, Adams D et al. Timing and incidence of postoperative infections associated with blood transfusion: analysis of 1,489 orthopedic and cardiac surgery patients. Surg Infect 2009;10:277-83.
- 123. Basran S, Frumento RJ, Cohen A et al. The association between duration of storage of transfused red blood cells and morbidity and mortality after reoperative cardiac surgery. Anesth Analg 2006;103:15,20.
- 124. Purdy FR, Tweeddale MG, Merrick PM. Association of mortality with age of blood transfused in septic ICU patients. Can J Anaesth 1997;44:1256-61.
- 125. Zallen G, Offner PJ, Moore EE et al. Age of transfused blood is an independent risk factor for postinjury multiple organ failure. Am J Surg 1999;178:570-2.
- 126. Offner PJ, Moore EE, Biffl WL et al. Increased rate of infection associated with transfusion of old blood after severe injury. Arch Surg 2002;137:711,6; discussion 716-7.
- 127. Leal-Noval SR, Jara-Lopez I, Garcia-Garmendia JL et al. Influence of erythrocyte concentrate storage time on postsurgical morbidity in cardiac surgery patients. Anesthesiology 2003;98:815-22.

- 128. van de Watering L, Lorinser J, Versteegh M et al. Effects of storage time of red blood cell transfusions on the prognosis of coronary artery bypass graft patients. Transfusion 2006;46:1712-8.
- 129. Vamvakas EC, Carven JH. Length of storage of transfused red cells and postoperative morbidity in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Transfusion 2000;40:101-9.
- 130. Vamvakas EC, Carven JH. Transfusion and postoperative pneumonia in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: effect of the length of storage of transfused red cells. Transfusion 1999;39:701-10.
- Yap CH, Lau L, Krishnaswamy M et al. Age of transfused red cells and early outcomes after cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;86:554-9.
- Chin-Yee I, Arya N, d'Almeida MS. The red cell storage lesion and its implication for transfusion. Transfus Sci 1997;18:447-58.
- Almac E, Ince C. The impact of storage on red cell function in blood transfusion. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2007;21:195-208.
- 134. Hamasaki N, Yamamoto M. Red blood cell function and blood storage. Vox Sang 2000;79:191-7.
- 135. Ho J, Sibbald WJ, Chin-Yee IH. Effects of storage on efficacy of red cell transfusion: when is it not safe? Crit Care Med 2003;31:S687-97.
- 136. Vandromme MJ, McGwin G,Jr, Weinberg JA. Blood transfusion in the critically ill: does storage age matter? Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2009;17:35.
- 137. Fitzgerald RD, Martin CM, Dietz GE et al. Transfusing red blood cells stored in citrate phosphate dextrose adenine-1 for 28 days fails to improve tissue oxygenation in rats. Crit Care Med 1997;25:726-32.
- 138. van Bommel J, de Korte D, Lind A et al. The effect of the transfusion of stored RBCs on intestinal microvascular oxygenation in the rat. Transfusion 2001;41:1515-23.
- 139. d'Almeida MS, Jagger J, Duggan M et al. A comparison of biochemical and functional alterations of rat and human erythrocytes stored in CPDA-1 for 29 days: implications for animal models of transfusion. Transfus Med 2000;10:291-303.
- 140. Marik PE, Sibbald WJ. Effect of stored-blood transfusion on oxygen delivery in patients with sepsis. JAMA 1993;269:3024-9.
- 141. Walsh TS, McArdle F, McLellan SA et al. Does the storage time of transfused red blood cells influence regional or global indexes of tissue oxygenation in anemic critically ill patients? Crit Care Med 2004;32:364-71.
- 142. Opelz G, Terasaki PI. Improvement of kidney-graft survival with increased numbers of blood transfusions. N Engl J Med 1978;299:799-803.

- 143. Bilgin YM, van de Watering LM, Eijsman L et al. Is increased mortality associated with post-operative infections after leukocytes containing red blood cell transfusions in cardiac surgery? An extended analysis. Transfus Med 2007;17:304-11.
- 144. van de Watering LM, Hermans J, Houbiers JG et al. Beneficial effects of leukocyte depletion of transfused blood on postoperative complications in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a randomized clinical trial. Circulation 1998;97:562-8.
- 145. Bilgin YM, van de Watering LM, Eijsman L et al. Double-blind, randomized controlled trial on the effect of leukocyte-depleted erythrocyte transfusions in cardiac valve surgery. Circulation 2004;109:2755-60.
- 146. Vamvakas EC. Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials investigating the risk of postoperative infection in association with white blood cell-containing allogeneic blood transfusion: the effects of the type of transfused red blood cell product and surgical setting. Transfus Med Rev 2002;16:304-14.
- 147. Wallis JP, Chapman CE, Orr KE et al. Effect of WBC reduction of transfused RBCs on postoperative infection rates in cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2002;42:1127-34.
- 148. Volkova N, Klapper E, Pepkowitz SH et al. A case-control study of the impact of WBC reduction on the cost of hospital care for patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Transfusion 2002;42:1123-6.
- 149. Capraro L, Kuitunen A, Vento AE et al. Universal leukocyte reduction of transfused red cells does not provide benefit to patients undergoing cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2007;21:232-6.
- Ferraris VA, Ferraris SP. Limiting excessive postoperative blood transfusion after cardiac procedures. A review. Tex Heart Inst J 1995;22:216-30.
- 151. Fremes SE, Wong BI, Lee E et al. Metaanalysis of prophylactic drug treatment in the prevention of postoperative bleeding. Ann Thorac Surg 1994;58:1580-8.
- 152. Laupacis A, Fergusson D. Drugs to minimize perioperative blood loss in cardiac surgery: meta-analyses using perioperative blood transfusion as the outcome. The International Study of Peri-operative Transfusion (ISPOT) Investigators. Anesth Analg 1997;85:1258-67.
- 153. Levi M, Cromheecke ME, de Jonge E et al. Pharmacological strategies to decrease excessive blood loss in cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis of clinically relevant endpoints. Lancet 1999;354:1940-7.
- 154. Henry DA, Moxey AJ, Carless PA et al. Anti-fibrinolytic use for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001;(1):CD001886.
- 155. Carless PA, Moxey AJ, Stokes BJ et al. Are antifibrinolytic drugs equivalent in reducing blood loss and transfusion in cardiac surgery? A meta-analysis of randomized head-to-head trials. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2005;5:19.
- 156. Henry DA, Carless PA, Moxey AJ et al. Anti-fibrinolytic use for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;(4):CD001886.

- 157. Trudell J, McMurdy N. Current antifibrinolytic therapy for coronary artery revascularization. AANA J 2008;76:121-4.
- 158. Henry D, Carless P, Fergusson D et al. The safety of aprotinin and lysine-derived antifibrinolytic drugs in cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis. CMAJ 2009;180:183-93.
- Sigmund H. Alternativer til blodtransfusion. Rapport fra det internationale ISPOT-projekt om teknologier til begrænsning af almindelig blodtransfusion ved planlagte operationer. Medicinsk teknologivurdering. 2001;3(2).
- 160. Verstraete M. Clinical application of inhibitors of fibrinolysis. Drugs 1985;29:236-61.
- 161. Mangano DT, Tudor IC, Dietzel C et al. The risk associated with aprotinin in cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2006;354:353-65.
- Fergusson DA, Hebert PC, Mazer CD et al. A comparison of aprotinin and lysine analogues in high-risk cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2008;358:2319-31.
- 163. Kalkat M, Levine A, Dunning J. Does use of aprotinin in coronary artery bypass graft surgery affect graft patency? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2004;3:124-8.
- 164. Dietrich W. Aprotinin: 1 year on. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2009;22:121-7.
- 165. Serebruany VL, Gurbel PA, O'Connor CM. Platelet inhibition by sertraline and N-desmethylsertraline: a possible missing link between depression, coronary events, and mortality benefits of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Pharmacol Res 2001;43:453-62.
- 166. Hergovich N, Aigner M, Eichler HG et al. Paroxetine decreases platelet serotonin storage and platelet function in human beings. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2000;68:435-42.
- 167. Dalton SO, Johansen C, Mellemkjaer L et al. Use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and risk of upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding: a population-based cohort study. Arch Intern Med 2003;163:59-64.
- 168. van Walraven C, Mamdani MM, Wells PS et al. Inhibition of serotonin reuptake by antidepressants and upper gastrointestinal bleeding in elderly patients: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 2001;323:655-8.
- 169. Meijer WE, Heerdink ER, Nolen WA et al. Association of risk of abnormal bleeding with degree of serotonin reuptake inhibition by antidepressants. Arch Intern Med 2004;164:2367-70.
- 170. Movig KL, Janssen MW, de Waal Malefijt J et al. Relationship of serotonergic antidepressants and need for blood transfusion in orthopedic surgical patients. Arch Intern Med 2003;163:2354-8.
- 171. Andersen TF, Madsen M, Jorgensen J et al. The Danish National Hospital Register. A valuable source of data for modern health sciences. Dan Med Bull 1999;46:263-8.
- 172. Nielsen GL, Sørensen HT, Zhou W et al. The pharmacoepidemiologic prescription database of North Jutland: a valid tool in pharmacoepidemiological research. Int. J. Risk. Safety Med. 1997;10:203-5.

- 173. Schønheyder HC. Two thousands seven hundred and thirty nine episodes of bacteremia in the county of Northern Jutland 1996-1998. Presentation of a regional clinical database. Ugeskr Laeger 2000;162:2886-91.
- 174. McNutt LA, Wu C, Xue X et al. Estimating the relative risk in cohort studies and clinical trials of common outcomes. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157:940-3.
- 175. Helm RE, Rosengart TK, Gomez M et al. Comprehensive multimodality blood conservation: 100 consecutive CABG operations without transfusion. Ann Thorac Surg 1998;65:125-36.
- 176. Brevig J, McDonald J, Zelinka ES et al. Blood transfusion reduction in cardiac surgery: multidisciplinary approach at a community hospital. Ann Thorac Surg 2009;87:532-9.
- 177. Dietrich W, Spath P, Zuhlsdorf M et al. Anaphylactic reactions to aprotinin reexposure in cardiac surgery: relation to antiaprotinin immunoglobulin G and E antibodies. Anesthesiology 2001;95:64,71; discussion 5A-6A.
- 178. Santos AT, Kalil RA, Bauemann C et al. A randomized, double-blind, and placebo-controlled study with tranexamic acid of bleeding and fibrinolytic activity after primary coronary artery bypass grafting. Braz J Med Biol Res 2006;39:63-9.
- 179. Brown RS, Thwaites BK, Mongan PD. Tranexamic acid is effective in decreasing postoperative bleeding and transfusions in primary coronary artery bypass operations: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Anesth Analg 1997;85:963-70.
- 180. Casati V, Guzzon D, Oppizzi M et al. Hemostatic effects of aprotinin, tranexamic acid and epsilonaminocaproic acid in primary cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 1999;68:2252,6; discussion 2256-7.
- 181. Zabeeda D, Medalion B, Sverdlov M et al. Tranexamic acid reduces bleeding and the need for blood transfusion in primary myocardial revascularization. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;74:733-8.
- Lambert W, Brisebois FJ, Wharton TJ et al. The effectiveness of low dose tranexamic acid in primary cardiac surgery. Can J Anaesth 1998;45:571-4.
- Hardy JF, Belisle S, Dupont C et al. Prophylactic tranexamic acid and epsilon-aminocaproic acid for primary myocardial revascularization. Ann Thorac Surg 1998;65:371-6.
- 184. Blauhut B, Harringer W, Bettelheim P et al. Comparison of the effects of aprotinin and tranexamic acid on blood loss and related variables after cardiopulmonary bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1994;108:1083-91.
- 185. Karthik S, Grayson AD, McCarron EE et al. Reexploration for bleeding after coronary artery bypass surgery: risk factors, outcomes, and the effect of time delay. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;78:527,34; discussion 534.
- 186. Hall TS, Brevetti GR, Skoultchi AJ et al. Re-exploration for hemorrhage following open heart surgery differentiation on the causes of bleeding and the impact on patient outcomes. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2001;7:352-7.

- Dowd NP, Karski JM, Cheng DC et al. Pharmacokinetics of tranexamic acid during cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesthesiology 2002;97:390-9.
- Horrow JC, Van Riper DF, Strong MD et al. The dose-response relationship of tranexamic acid. Anesthesiology 1995;82:383-92.
- 189. Thiagarajamurthy S, Levine A, Dunning J. Does prophylactic tranexamic acid safely reduce bleeding without increasing thrombotic complications in patients undergoing cardiac surgery? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2004;3:489-94.
- 190. Karski J, Djaiani G, Carroll J et al. Tranexamic acid and early saphenous vein graft patency in conventional coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a prospective randomized controlled clinical trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;130:309-14.
- Goodnough LT, Johnston MF, Toy PT. The variability of transfusion practice in coronary artery bypass surgery. Transfusion Medicine Academic Award Group. JAMA 1991;265:86-90.
- 192. Hasley PB, Lave JR, Hanusa BH et al. Variation in the use of red blood cell transfusions. A study of four common medical and surgical conditions. Med Care 1995;33:1145-60.
- 193. Belisle S, Hardy JF. Hemorrhage and the use of blood products after adult cardiac operations: myths and realities. Ann Thorac Surg 1996;62:1908-17.
- 194. Grayson AD, Jackson M, Desmond MJ. Monitoring blood transfusion in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: an audit methodology. Vox Sang 2003;85:96-101.
- 195. Titlestad K, Kristensen T, Jorgensen J et al. Monitoring transfusion practice--a computerized procedure. Transfus Med 2002;12:25-34.
- 196. Titlestad K, Georgsen J, Jorgensen J et al. Monitoring transfusion practices at two university hospitals. Vox Sang 2001;80:40-7.
- 197. Bracey AW. Blood transfusion in cardiac surgery: a highly varied practice. Transfusion 2008;48:1271-3.
- 198. Cobain TJ, Vamvakas EC, Wells A et al. A survey of the demographics of blood use. Transfus Med 2007;17:1-15.
- 199. Alghamdi AA, Davis A, Brister S et al. Development and validation of Transfusion Risk Understanding Scoring Tool (TRUST) to stratify cardiac surgery patients according to their blood transfusion needs. Transfusion 2006;46:1120-9.
- 200. Kim DH, Daskalakis C, Whellan DJ et al. Safety of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor in adults undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Am J Cardiol 2009;103:1391-5.
- 201. Ford DE, Mead LA, Chang PP et al. Depression is a risk factor for coronary artery disease in men: the precursors study. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:1422-6.

- 202. Barefoot JC, Schroll M. Symptoms of depression, acute myocardial infarction, and total mortality in a community sample. Circulation 1996;93:1976-80.
- 203. Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M. Depression following myocardial infarction. Impact on 6-month survival. JAMA 1993;270:1819-25.
- 204. Barefoot JC, Helms MJ, Mark DB et al. Depression and long-term mortality risk in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 1996;78:613-7.
- 205. Leal-Noval SR, Marquez-Vacaro JA, Garcia-Curiel A et al. Nosocomial pneumonia in patients undergoing heart surgery. Crit Care Med 2000;28:935-40.
- 206. Steiner ME, Stowell C. Does red blood cell storage affect clinical outcome? When in doubt, do the experiment. Transfusion 2009;49:1286-90.
- 207. Sreeram GM, Welsby IJ, Sharma AD et al. Infectious complications after cardiac surgery: lack of association with fresh frozen plasma or platelet transfusions. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2005;19:430-4.
- 208. Vamvakas EC. Platelet transfusion and postoperative infection in cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2007;47:352,4; author reply 354-6.
- 209. McGrath T, Koch CG, Xu M et al. Platelet transfusion in cardiac surgery does not confer increased risk for adverse morbid outcomes. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;86:543-53.
- 210. Cannon CP, Mehta SR, Aranki SF. Balancing the benefit and risk of oral antiplatelet agents in coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;80:768-79.
- 211. Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG. The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomised trials. Lancet 2001;357:1191-4.
- 212. Altman DG, Schulz KF, Moher D et al. The revised CONSORT statement for reporting randomized trials: explanation and elaboration. Ann Intern Med 2001;134:663-94.
- Andreasen JJ, Korsager B, Alstrup P et al. Postoperative wound infection: indicator of clinical quality? Dan Med Bull 2002;49:242-4.
- 214. Blumberg N, Heal JM, Hicks GL, Jr et al. Association of ABO-mismatched platelet transfusions with morbidity and mortality in cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2001;41:790-3.
- Blumberg N, Heal JM. ABO-mismatched platelet transfusions and clinical outcomes after cardiac surgery. Transfusion 2002;42:1527,8; author reply 1528-9.
- 216. Kaufman RM. Platelet ABO matters. Transfusion 2009;49:5-7.
- 217. Dzik W. Fresh blood for everyone? Balancing availability and quality of stored RBCs. Transfus Med 2008;18:260-5.
- 218. Fergusson D, Hebert P, Shapiro S. The before/after study design in transfusion medicine: methodologic considerations. Transfus Med Rev 2002;16:296-303.

219. Steiner ME, Despotis GJ. Transfusion algorithms and how they apply to blood conservation: the high-risk cardiac surgical patient. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2007;21:177-84.